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Bulavko, Leo M CIV USARMY CECOM (USA) 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Classification: 

CLASSIFICATION: UNCLASSIFIED 

Received. Thank you! 

Respectfully, 

Mark C. Bashaw 

lLT,MS 

Bashaw, Mark C 1 LT USARMY MEDCOM APHC (USA) 
Monday, May 23, 2022 9:06 AM 
Bulavko, Leo M CIV USARMY CECOM (USA) 
David Willson 
RE: Audio of court-martial (UNCLASSIFIED) 

UNCLASSIFIED 

Entomologist, Entomological Sciences Division 

U.S. Army Public Health Center 

Entomological Sciences Division Army Public Health Center 

8638 40th Street (Bldg. E-5800) 

Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21010-5403 

Phone: (410)-436-5436 

Email: mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil <mailto:mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil> 

From: Bulavko, Leo M CIV USARMY CECOM (USA) <leo.m.bulavko.civ@army.mil> 
Sent: Monday, May 23, 2022 8:24 AM 
To: Bashaw, Mark C lLT USARMY MEDCOM APHC (USA) <mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil> 
Cc: David Willson <david@dradvocates.com> 

1 



( 

Subject: Re: Audio of court-martial {UNCLASSIFIED) 

Attempting to send again now. Let me know if you don't see it. 

From: Bashaw, Mark C lLT USARMY MEDCOM APHC {USA) <mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil 
<mailto:mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil> > 
Sent: Monday, May 23, 2022 7:57 AM 
To: Bulavko, Leo M CIV USARMY CECOM {USA) <leo.m.bulavko.civ@army.mil <mailto:leo.m.bulavko.civ@army.mil> > 
Cc: David Willson <david@dradvocates.com <mailto:david@dradvocates.com> > 
Subject: RE: Audio of court-martial (UNCLASSIFIED) 

CLASSIFICATION: UNCLASSIFIED 

Good Morning Mr. Bulavko, I have not seen the DOD Safe link come through yet. Has it been sent? Thank you. 

Respectfully, 

Mark C. Bashaw 
lLT, MS 
Entomologist, Entomological Sciences Division U.S. Army Public Health Center 

Entomological Sciences Division Army Public Health Center 
8638 40th Street (Bldg. E-5800) 
Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21010-5403 

Phone: (410)-436-5436 
Email: mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil <mailto:mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil> 

-----Original Message-----
From: Bulavko, Leo M CIV USARMY CECOM (USA) <leo.m.bulavko.civ@army.mil <mailto:leo.m.bulavko.civ@army.mil> > 
Sent: Thursday, May 19, 2022 3:59 PM 
To: Bashaw, Mark C lLT USARMY MEDCOM APHC (USA) <mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil 
<mailto:mark.c.bashaw.mil@mail.mil> > 
Cc: David Willson <david@dradvocates.com <mailto:david@dradvocates.com> > 
Subject: Audio of court-martial 

Good day, Lieutenant Bashaw 

As part of the post-trial process, I'll be forwarding you the audio from your trial via DoD SAFE. Please advise if any 
questions or concerns. Once you open the SAFE, that'll be your acknowledgement of receipt. 

Note that I previously provided the audio to both Mr. Willson and CPT Jackson. Continue to coordinate with them on 
whatever post-trial submissions or actions you're putting forward. 

LEO M. BULAVKO 
GS-09 
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Court Reporter 
HQ, CECOM, Office of the SJA 
APG, MD 21005 
Cell: 443-752-8707 

r/lmb 

LEO M. BULAVKO 
GS-09 
Court Reporter 
HQ, CE COM, Office of the SJA 
APG, MD 21005 
Cell: 443-752-8707 

CLASSIFICATION: UNCLASSIFIED 

CLASSIFICATION: UNCLASSIFIED 
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MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD 5 May 2022 

SUBJECT: Service of Audio Record of Trial and Exhibits on 
Civilian Defense Counsel - US v. lLT Bashaw 

1. On 4 May 2022, I sent the audio for the 2 days of the Bashaw 
case to both Mr. Willson, civilian defense counsel, and CPT 
Jackson, military defense counsel, via DoD SAFE. 

2. I received electronic acknowledgement that CPT Jackson 
received the audio later on 4 May 2022. 

3. On 5 May 2022, I sent via ema.il the admitted trial and 
defense exhibits to Mr. Willson, who was noted as the counsel 
responsible for post-trial matters. 

4. Mr. Willson received the matters described above as noted: 

0937, 5 May 2022 - CDC downloaded audio 
1141, 5 May 2022 - CDC received Prosecution and Defense 

Exhibits, minus Defense Exhibit;{'~» 
1142, 5 May 2022 - CDC received Defense Exhibit D. 

5. POC is the undersigned. 

LEO M. BULAVKO 
GS9 
Court Reporter 
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ERRATA SHEET 

UN.ITED STATES v .. 1LT Mark C. Bashaw 

DATE COMPLETED: 23 May 22 

DATE SENTENCE ADJUDGED: 29 AJ2ril 22 

Military Judge: Trial Counsel Defense Counsel Court Reporter(s) 
LTC Cohen CPT Genrich Mr. Willson MR. BULAVKO 

CPT Jameson Ms. Uballe 
CPT Jackson 

LOCATION CHANGE INITIALS 

PAGE f LINE # FROM TO TC 
37 4 now how TCJ 

95 20 requirement require it TCJ 

118 3 he how he TCJ 

147 8 didn't did ·TCJ 

216 5 A> A. TCJ 

218 12 now not TCJ 

277 9 6Discipline Discipline TCJ 

293 Safe Save TCJ 

Signature of (TC) DATE 03 June 2022 
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ERRATA SHEET 

UNITED STATES v. 1LT Mark C. Bashaw 

DATE COMPLETED: 
~ 

2~ JUNE 22 

DATE SENTENCE ADJUDGED: 29 AEri1 22 

Mil it.ary Judge: Trial Counsel Defense Counsel Court Reporter(s) 
LTC Cohen CPT Genrich Mr. Willson MR. BULAVKO 

CPT Jameson Ms. Uballe 
CPT Jackson 

LOCATION CHANGE INITIALS 

PAGE ff LI.NE # FROM TO MJ 

3 17 and . just t,(,;"' 
7 13 strike "in 

fact" v--
7 14 concern issue (/1/' 
7 16 issue is issues are IV' 
7 20 is not has not been ~ 
8 1 were not were not properly 

properly supported or 
~ supposed issues issued 

86 18 insert ''Chief" 
before v "Executive" 

86 20 that on 
~ 

96 12 best beast 
~ 

326 5 insert "you 
are" before 
"trustworthy;, w,/' 
NOTHING FOLLOWS NOTHING FOLLOWS 

Signature of Military Judge DATE 1,,0 J'\,\,-Q ~ 
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2 

PROCEEDINGS OF A SPECIAL COURT-MARTIAL 

3 The Article 39(a) session was called to order at 1150, 28 April 2022, 

4 at Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland, pursuant to the following 

5 direction: 

6 

7 The case was referred to a special court-martial on 18 January 2022 

8 by Commander, U.S. Army Communications-Electronics Command, pursuant 

9 to Article 16(c) (2) (A). 

10 [END OF PAGE] 

11 
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1 MJ: This 39(a) session is called to order. 

2 Government, would you please put on the record the 

3 information concerning this case today. 

4 TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

5 This court-martial was convened by order of Major General 

6 Robert L. Edmonson II, Commander, United States Army Communications-

7 Electronics Command on 18 January 2022, pursuant to Article 

8 16(c)(2)(A), UCMJ. 

9 The Charge has been properly referred to this court for 

10 trial, and was served on the accused on 18 January 2022; the 3-day 

11 statutory waiting period has expired. 

12 The prosecution is ready to proceed with this arraignment 

13 in the case of United States v. First Lieutenant Mark Bashaw. 

14 The accused and the following persons detailed to this 

15 court are present: 

16 LIEUTENANT COLONEL ROBERT COHEN, MILITARY JUDGE; 

17 CAPTAIN CHRISTOPHER GENRICH, TRIAL COUNSEL; 

18 CAPTAIN TANNER JAMESON, [ASSISTANT] TRIAL COUNSEL; 

19 

20 

MR. DAVID WILLSON, [CIVILIAN] DEFENSE COUNSEL; 

MS. DAWN UBALLE, [SECOND CIVILIAN] DEFENSE COUNSEL; 

21 CAPTAIN KIAHHN JACKSON, DEFENSE COUNSEL. 

22 Leo Bulavko has been detailed reporter for this court, and 

23 has been previously sworn. 
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1 All members of the prosecution have been detailed to this 

2 court-martial by Colonel Yevgeny Vindman [SJA, USA C-E Command]. All 

3 members of the prosecution are qualified and certified under Article 

4 27(b) and sworn under Article 42(a), Uniform Code of Military 

5 Justice. No member of the prosecution has acted in any manner that 

6 might tend to disqualify us in this court-martial. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

MJ: Thank you, Counsel. 

Lieutenant Bashaw - first of all, can you hear me clearly? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: If at any time you don't understand something I'm saying, 

11 or you have difficulty hearing what is being said, please immediately 

12 get my attention, and the attention of your counsel. Okay? 

13 

14 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: As I told all the attorneys previously, if at any time you 

15 need to speak with your counsel privately, away from the microphones, 

16 or if you need a recess for any reason, I will grant those liberally, 

17 just ensure I'm aware of it. 

18 Do you understand that? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 19 

20 MJ: Lieutenant Bashaw, you have the right to be represented by 

21 Captain Jackson, your detailed military defense counsel. She is a 

22 lawyer, certified by The Judge Advocate General as qualified to act 
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1 as your defense counsel, and she is a member of the Army's Trial 

2 Defense Service. Her services are provided at no expense to you. 

3 You also have the right to be represented by a military 

4 counsel of your own selection, provided that the defense counsel you 

5 request is reasonably available. If you were represented by military 

6 counsel of your own selection, then your detailed defense counsel 

7 would normally be excused. However, you could request that your 

8 detailed defense counsel continue to represent you, but your request 

9 would not have to be granted. 

10 Do you understand me? 

11 

12 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: In addition to your military defense counsel, you have the 

13 right to be represented by civilian counsel at no expense to the 

14 government. Civilian counsel may represent you along with your 

15 military defense counsel, or you could excuse your military counsel 

16 and be represented only by civilian counsel. 

17 Do you understand this? 

18 

19 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: It is my understanding that in addition to Captain Jackson, 

20 you have retained the services of two civilian counsel to represent 

21 

22 

23 

you - Mr. Willson and Ms. Uballe. Is that correct? 

ACC: Judge, that's correct. 

MJ: Do you have any questions about your rights to counsel? 

4 
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2 

ACC: No, sir. 

MJ: By whom do you wish to be represented? 

3 ACC: Judge, I'd request to be represented by David Willson, Dawn 

4 Uballe, and Captain Kiahhn Jackson. 

MJ: By them alone? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

5 

6 

7 MJ: Military defense counsel - that'd be Captain Jackson -

8 would you please announce your detailing and qualifications? 

9 

10 

DC: I have been detailed to this court-martial by Major Simon 

Chung, [SDC,] Military District of Washington. I am qualified and 

11 certified under Article 27(b) and sworn under Article 42(a), Uniform 

12 Code of Military Justice. I have not acted in any manner that might 

13 tend to disqualify me in this court-martial. 

14 MJ: Thank you. 

15 CDC: Your Honor, I am an attorney licensed to practice law in 

16 the States of New York, Connecticut and Colorado, and a member of 

17 good standing of those bars. I have not acted in any manner which 

18 might tend to disqualify me in this court-martial. 

19 [The civilian defense counsel was sworn.] 

20 MJ: Now, Ms. Uballe? 

21 ACDC: Your Honor, I am an attorney, and licensed to practice law 

22 in the State of Texas. I am a member in good standing of the Texas 
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1 Bar. I have not acted in any manner which might tend to disqualify 

2 me in this court-martial. 

3 [The assistant civilian defense counsel was sworn.] 

4 MJ: I'm Lieutenant Colonel Robert Cohen. I have been properly 

5 certified and sworn, and have been detailed by Colonel Lanny Acosta, 

6 who is the Deputy Chief Trial Judge, United States Army Trial 

7 Judiciary, to preside over this court-martial. I am not aware of any 

8 matter that might be grounds for challenge against me. 

9 Does either side desire to question or challenge me? 

TC: No, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense? 

CDC: No, Your Honor. 

10 

11 

12 

13 MJ: Counsel for both sides appear to have the requisite 

14 qualifications, and all personnel required to be sworn have now been 

15 sworn. 

16 Trial counsel, would you announce the general nature of the 

17 charges? 

18 TC: The general nature of The Charge in this case is three 

19 specifications of failure to obey an order. 

20 The Charge was preferred by Captain Alexander McCarthy, and 

21 forwarded with recommendations as to disposition by Colonel John 

22 Casiano. 
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1 MJ: Counsel, before we go further, I wanted to put on the 

2 record a summary of the somewhat lengthy 802 conference we had this 

3 morning. 

4 Lieutenant Bashaw, as you are probably aware, I met with 

5 counsel starting around 8:30 or 8:40 this morning, and that 

6 conversation took well over an hour. During that time, we had 

7 conversations about the order of march - how we would be proceeding 

8 here today, what the expectations would be with regard to what would 

9 be a motions hearing, first, under an Article 39(a) session; we 

10 talked about whether or not, should we get to the merits, the issue 

11 of a witness not being available until tomorrow for, I believe, the 

12 government. I also provided counsel with a number of questions 

13 concerning what the issues were, that needed to be addressed and 

14 litigated today, as to the issue of lawfulness of the orders. 

15 What I was advised - defense and government, you'll have an 

16 opportunity to add to this as well - the issues are, as to the 

17 underlying issue of lawfulness of the orders, challenging, 

18 essentially, two aspects: 

19 First is that the element of the offense requiring that the 

20 order be related to military duties is not satisfied; and 

21 The second aspect of the argument is that the promulgating 

22 sources from the Department of Defense, and the Centers for Disease 

23 Control, outlining the requirements for mask-wear, testing, 
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1 concerning COVID-19 were not properly supported or issued, or that 

2 they were not, in fact, appropriate, or authorized, and therefore, 

3 any orders that followed from them were then illegal. 

4 Then we also finally discussed a number of cases. I 

5 provided counsel with a number of citations of recent cases, and not 

6 so recent cases, concerning the issues of force health protection 

7 orders. I also brought to the parties' attention from one of their 

8 own exhibits questions concerning the related Executive Orders 

9 governing the FDA's determination on the use of certain products, and 

10 asked counsel to then review those cases, review the Executive 

11 Orders, so they could be prepared to address those issues in court in 

12 their motions. 

13 I then directed the government, because of the issue the 

14 issue of printer capability, so they could review those as well. 

15 First, to the government, have I omitted anything that we 

16 discussed of significance that you want to add to the record 

17 concerning the 802 session held this morning? 

18 

19 

20 

21 

TC: No, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense? 

CDC: No, Your Honor. 

MJ: Lieutenant Bashaw, because this case has been referred to a 

22 special court-martial consisting of a military judge alone, the 
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1 military judge will decide whether you are guilty; and if found 

2 guilty, the military judge will determine your sentence. 

3 Do you understand this? 

4 ACC: Yes, Your Honor. 

5 MJ: You have the right to object to the trial of any 

6 specification by a special court-martial consisting of a military 

7 judge alone, if: 

8 One, the maximum authorized confinement for the offense 

9 alleged in the specification would be greater than 2 years, if the 

10 offense were tried by a general court-martial, with the exception of 

11 a specification alleging wrongful use or possession of a controlled 

12 substance in violation of Article 112a of the Uniform Code of 

13 Military Justice, or an attempt thereof under Article 80 of the 

14 Uniform Code of Military Justice; or 

15 Two, if the specification alleged an offense for which sex 

16 offender notification would be required under regulations issued by 

17 the Secretary of Defense. 

18 

19 

In this case, you are charged with three specifications of 

violating Article 92 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice. The 

20 maximum penalty as to each of these specifications, had you been 

21 tried by a general court-martial, would've been confinement for up to 

22 a period of 6 months. 

9 



1 If you objected to trial by special court-martial 

2 consisting of a military judge alone for any specification, the 

3 Convening Authority will have the option of referring those 

4 specifications to a general or special court-martial, at which time, 

5 the maximum punishment authorized could be increased. 

6 Do you understand what I've said so far? 

7 

8 

9 

10 

ACC: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Have you discussed these issues with your defense counsel? 

ACC: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Do counsel or accused believe that you have the right to 

11 object to any specification being tried at this special court-martial 

12 consisting of a military judge alone? 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

TC: No, Your Honor. 

CDC: No, Your Honor. 

MJ: The court is assembled. 

The accused will now be arraigned. 

TC: All parties to the trial have been furnished with a copy of 

18 the charges. Does the accused want them read? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

CDC: We'll waive reading. 

MJ: The reading may be omitted. 

[THE CHARGE SHEET FOLLOWS AND IS NOT A NUMBERED PAGE.] 

[END OF PAGE] 
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CHARGE SHEET 



1. NAME OF ACCUSED (1.ast Firsc. Middle Initial) 

Bashaw, Mark C. O 
5. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 

CHARGE SHEET 

I. PERSONAL DATA 

2. SSN 3. GRADE OR RANK 

ILT 
6. CURRENT SERVICE 

4. PAY GRADE 

0-2 

H.HC, United States Army Public Health Center, United States Anny Medical Command, 
Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 210 I 0 

a. INITIAL DATE b. TERM 

08 Sep 2019 In def 

7. PAY PER MONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF 
~a-._B_A_S_IC--~-b-.-S-EA/-FO_R_E_IG_N_O_U_TY_.,....c.-T-O_T_A_L ___ ~ ACCUSED 

9. DATE(S) IMPOSED 

$-5,399.00 
J 6,'f'2o.~ 0 

$0.00 

NIA 

II. CHA GES AND SPECIFICATIONS 

10. THE CHARGE: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 92. 

SPECIFICATION I (Failure to Obey Other Lawful Order); In that First Lieutenant Mark C. Bashaw, U.S. Anny, having knowledge of a lawful 
order issued by Captain Alexander McCarthy, HHC, APHC Commander, in accordance with I IQDA EX ORD 225-21, to provide proof of a 

negative COYlD-19 test before being physically present at his place of duty on 30 November 2021 or alternatively reporting to a specified place 
between 0730-0830 on 30 November 2021 to have a COVID-19 test administered, an order which it was his duty to obey, did, at or near 
Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland, on or about 30 November 2021, fail to obey the same by wrongfully being physically present at his place 
of duty without providing proof of a negative COYID-19 test or alternatively being physically present at a specified place to have a COYID-19 
test administered prior 10 reporting to bis place of duty. 

SPECIFICA TrON 2 (Failure to Obey Other Lawful Order): In that First Lieutenant Mark C. Oashaw, U.S. Army, having knowledge of a lawful 
order issued by Captain Alexander McCarthy, HJ IC, AP! IC Commander, to leave Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland and work remotely until 
providing proof of a negative COVID-19 test, an order which it was his duty to obey, did, at or near Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland, on or 
about 30 November 2021, fail to obey the same by wrongfully remaining physically present on Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland, and not 
providing proof of a negative COYID-19 test. 

SPECIFICATION 3 (Failure to Obey Other Lawful Order): In that First Lieutenant Mark C. Bashaw, U.S. Army, having knowledge of a lawful 
order issued by Captain Alexander McCarthy, HHC, APHC Commander, to wear a face covering while indoors, an order which it was bis duty 
to obey, did, at or near Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland on or about 30 November 2021, fail to obey the same by wrongfully remaining 
unmasked while indoors. 

11 a. NAME OF ACCUSER (Last, Fiist, Mtdale lniriet) 

McCarthy, Alexander, P 
d. SIGNATURE OF ACCUSE 

(END OF CHARGE) 

Ill. PREFERRAL 
c. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER 

HHC, Army Public Health Center 
e. DATE (YYYYMMOO) 

l-{,2,Z-01 IL 

AFFIDAVIT: Before me, the undersigned, authorized by law to administer oath In cases of this character, personally 
appeared the above named accuser this \I'--\-._ day of /) ~~v;1 . dliM , and signed the foregoing 

charges and specifications under oath that he/she is a person subject to he Uniform Code of Military Justice and that 
he/she either haspersonal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set forth therein and that the same are true to 
the best of his/her knowledge and belief. 

Taoner C. Jameson Headquarters, Army Material Command 
Typed Name of Officer Organization of Officer 
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Grade Official Capacity to Administer Oath 

(See R.C.M. 307(bL must be commissioned officer) 

,gnature 
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,2. Qa I 
On ~11'.L?i/~ L , 2,oZ,Z_. , the accused was informed of the charges against him/her and of the 
name(s) of the accus(s) known to me (See R.C.M. JOB(a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.) 

CPT Alexander P. McCarthy HHC, Anny Public Health Center 
Typed Name of Immediate Commander Organization of Immediate Commander 

0-3 

Signature 

IV. RECEIPT BY SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY 

13. 
The sworn charges were received at 1 ,, 0() hours. 1 Z. "TA-Af 

COL John M. Casiano 
Officer Exercising Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction {See R.C.M. 403) 

FOR THE 7 

, Z o? Z. at Aberdeen Proving Ground 
Designation of Command or 

COL John M. Casiano G,(V.. ,\,'\.~ f= /!:. 
Typed Name of Officer Official Capacity of Officer Signing 

0-6 

V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES 

14a. DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY b. PLACE c. DATE (YYYYMMODJ 

Headquarters, CECOM APG,MD 0220118 

Referred for tr'1at to the Special . t db Uniform Code of Military Justice, _______ court-mart1a convene y 

Article 16( c )(2)(A) 

, subject to the following instructions: z 

Order 
By _____ ....,....-=-,---

Command or Order 
of 

Major General Robert L. Edmonson II 

Yevgeny S. Vindman Staff Judge Advocate 

Typed Na"ff-.f{ Officer Official capacity of Officer Signing 

---------

- ., , . , ,. 

15. 
On ~:;: / f. a.Qa;l . I {caused to be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused. 

T~ NER C. JAMESON 0-3 
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1 TC: The Charge is signed by Captain Alexander McCarthy, a 

2 person subject to the Code as accuser; is properly sworn to before a 

3 commissioned officer of the armed forces authorized to administer 

4 oaths; and is properly referred to this court for trial by Major 

5 General Robert L. Edmondson II, the Convening Authority. 

6 MJ: Lieutenant Bashaw, defense counsel, will you please rise? 

7 [The accused and his counsel did as directed.] 

8 First Lieutenant Bashaw, how do you plead? Before 

9 receiving your plea, I advise you that any motions to dismiss, or to 

10 grant other appropriate relief, should be made at this time. Your 

11 defense counsel will speak for you. 

12 CDC: Your Honor, at this time, we make a motion for - let me 

13 figure how to phrase this, Your Honor - that the orders are unlawful, 

14 and we would ask the court to rule on that under ~he specifics that 

15 we discussed in the 802 session. 

16 MJ: I grant your deferral on entry of plea. 

17 Subject to deferral, Lieutenant Bashaw, what has - you can 

18 be seated. 

19 [The accused and his counsel did as directed.] 

20 What has just happened is called an arraignment. An 

21 arraignment has certain legal consequences, one of which I'd like to 

22 explain to you now. 

11 



1 Under ordinary circumstances, you have the right to be 

2 present at every session and stage of your trial. However, if you 

3 are voluntarily absent at any point in this trial going forward, you 

4 may forfeit the right to be present. Future sessions, and the trial, 

5 could go forward, even without you being present, up to and including 

6 sentencing, if necessary. 

7 Do you understand? 

8 ACC: Yes, Your Honor. 

9 MJ: It is important, therefore, that you keep your defense 

10 counsel, and your chain of command, apprised of your whereabouts at 

11 all times between now and all future sessions of this court-martial. 

12 Do you have any questions about what I've told you? 

13 ACC: No, Your Honor. 

14 MJ: Counsel, are you ready to proceed now with the motions 

15 hearing? 

CDC: We are, Your Honor. 

TC: We are, Your Honor. 

16 

17 

18 MJ: Defense, given that it is your burden with regard to the 

19 issue of lawfulness, you may proceed. 

20 CDC: Your Honor, we would call Lieutenant Mark Bashaw to the 

21 stand. 

22 [END OF PAGE] 

23 
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1 FIRST LIEUTENANT MARK BASHAW, U.S. Army, the accused, was called as a 

2 witness by the defense· on the motion, was sworn and testified as 

3 follows: 

4 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

5 Questions by the civilian defense counsel: 

6 Q. Lieutenant Bashaw, can you state your rank and full name? 

7 A. Sir, First Lieutenant Mark Charles Bashaw. 

8 Q. Are you the accused in this case? 

9 A. Yes, sir. 

10 Q. Can you provide the court, just briefly, with your 

11 background with regards to your MOS, and your expertise? 

12 A. I've been in the military 16 years. My primary MOS is 67C, 

13 which is a preventive medicine officer; and my primary AOC, technical 

14 ability, as an entomologist, which is 72B - the AOC. Primary duties 

15 are the investigation and the risk communication strategy of vector-

16 borne disease, and other animals and arthropods and vertebrate pests 

17 that may affect our soldiers, service members, and other non-battle 

18 related injuries. 

19 

20 

21 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

22 Force? 

Did you have prior service? 

I did. I did 14 years in the Air Force enlisted. 

What was your role, or your MOS or duties, in the Air 

13 



1 A. My duties in the Air Force was Air Force pest management, 

2 so my primary job was to communicate risk to service members of 

3 disease vectors, vector-borne illness, while also suppressing those 

4 threats with various different methods. I also worked various 

5 different risk mitigation factors on flight lines for the Bash 

6 program - BASH program stands for "Bird Aircraft Strike Hazard" 

7 program. What we would do is we would devise programs to implement 

8 to reduce the risk from bird-aircraft strike hazards, so we could 

9 mitigate the threat to our pilots. 

10 Q. In your role or your function in either the Air Force or 

11 the Army, did that require you to do research? 

12 A. Yes. Yes. I would oftentimes have to go through defense 

13 medical publications, and things like that, to properly formulate my 

14 risk communication to the service members, depending on the mission 

15 set that we were delivering. 

16 Q. What we're going to focus on is military function with 

17 regards to mask and testing. 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

Roger that. 

Is it your conclusion that the wearing of a mask, or 

20 testing, is a military function? 

21 

22 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

CDC: I'll lay some foundation, Your Honor. 

14 



1 Q. 

2 point? 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 19. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

13 basis. 

14 

15 

Q. 

A. 

Being in the Army, were you required to wear a mask at any 

Yes. 

Do you recall when that requirement came about? 

I believe it was around summertime 2020. 

Do you know why that requirement came about? 

For the threat of - the narrative was the threat of COVID-

How often did you have to wear a mask? 

It .was whenever we were inside of a government facility. 

How often was that? 

Whenever we showed up to the facility, so, on a daily 

Is that where your place of work was? 

Yes. At the time, I was working as the HHC company 

16 commander at Army Public Health Center. 

17 Q. So, is it safe to say, approximately 8 hours a day, you 

18 were in a building wearing a mask? 

19 A. Approximately, given the circumstances of individuals and 

20 personnel within the building. 

21 Q. And at any point since, I'm going to say, summer of 2020, 

22 until recently, did you have to have to wear a mask in anywhere other 

23 than inside a DoD building? 

15 



1 A. Not that I'm aware of. 

2 Q. Outdoors? 

3 A. Not that I'm aware of. 

4 Q. For physical training? 

5 A. So, there was instances at the gym, where we were forced to 

6 wear masks while we were performing PT. 

7 Q. So, inside any building, to include the gym? 

8 A. Right, that's correct. 

9 Q. Were you required to test at any point? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. When was that? 

12 A. That order came down 23 November. 

13 Q. Of 2021? 

14 A. Of 2021. 

15 Q. In looking at military functions, would you agree that 

16 maintaining your weapon would be considered a military function? 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

19 function? 

20 A. 

Yes. 

What other functions would you consider a military 

Serviceability of your uniform, and the issues that were 

21 properly issued by CIF. 

22 

23 

Q. 

A. 

How about from a healthcare perspective? 

Not that I'm aware of. 

16 



( 

1 Q. Is maintaining your health - would you consider that a 

2 proper military function? 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes, maintaining your health. 

How about brushing your teeth? 

Yes. 

How about having your eyes checked? 

Yes. 

When I put those into that context, would you consider 

9 those unique military functions, or functions of being a human who 

10 cares about themselves? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

That's correct, functions of being a human. 

Do you recall any time when you were in the Air Force, or 

13 the Army - let me back up. 

14 The military is fairly alert to flu season, would you 

15 agree? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

18 flu shot? 

19 A. 

20 Q. 

21 A. 

22 Q. 

23 A. 

Yes. 

Were you required, at any point in the military, to get a 

Yes. 

Was that Air Force and Army? 

Air Force and Army. 

How often was that? 

Annually. 

17 



1 

2 

3 

4 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

That's typically during flu season? 

Yes. 

Do you now when flu season normally----

Typically, September to February, my guess, but not 

5 specifically. 

6 Q. In your job description or your duties, does that include 

7 dealing with viruses like the flu, and other diseases or ailments? 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Diseases or ailments, yes, but not specifically the flu. 

The mask that you had to wear, that was for COVID-19? 

Supposedly, yes. 

Did you ever have to wear a mask related to the flu? 

No. 

Did you ever have to test related to the flu? 

No. 

Is it correct that when talking about the flu, if you did 

16 receive a test, it was typically, you were symptomatic, and you went 

17 to the doctor? 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

Typically. 

At some point, when the COVID mandates - specifically, I'm 

20 going to talk about masks right now - came out, did you develop a 

21 concern with regards to the wearing of a mask? 

22 

23 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

What was that concern? 

18 



1 A. Specifically, at the time, for my service members, 

2 performing physical activities during physical training inside the 

3 gym, was a specific situation. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

When was that? 

That was February 2021. 

What steps did you take to address that? 

I contacted the Aberdeen Proving Ground Kirk [Army Health 

8 Clinic] - I forget his name, but I contacted the commander first at 

9 Kirk, and I brought up the concerns about soldiers wearing masks 

10 while performing PT. 

11 Q. 

12 A. 

13 clinic. 

14 Q. 

15 A. 

To clarify, what is Kirk? 

Kirk is a clinic on Aberdeen Proving Ground - a health 

So, the clinic commander? 

That's correct, yes, sir. 

16 Q. What was - in summary, what was the gist of your complaint 

17 and conversation? 

18 A. The gist of my complaint was the fact that we could drink 

19 water ----

20 

21 

22 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: The witness is being asked to talk about his complaint to 

23 this individual, it's not going to his belief for the military duty. 

19 



1 MJ: I'm going to allow the defense some leeway. 

2 TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

3 CDC: I'll back up a little bit, Your Honor. 

4 MJ: Overruled. 

5 Q. What was your primary concern with regards to masks and the 

6 gym? 

7 A. My primary concern is the continuous inhalation of recycled 

8 carbon dioxide, and not getting fresh air to the body. 

9 Q. Describe for us what brought you to that concern or 

10 conclusion - whether it was research, or your own personal knowledge, 

11 your background? 

12 A. Right, so, the research - there are peer-reviewed studies 

13 that I was aware of, and I was tracking on; specifically, out of the 

14 international ----

15 

16 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Sustained. 

17 CDC: Don't cite the actual reviews; just give us an overview 

18 whether this was research, or personal knowledge, your background 

19 

20 TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

21 MJ: Counsel, if you're asking him - are you asking him for the 

22 sources, or are you asking him for the basis of----

20 



1 CDC: The basis for his concern, not to cite the specific 

2 sources. 

3 MJ: The responses he just gave was his research. Was that the 

4 answer you were looking for? 

5 CDC: Yes, Your Honor. 

6 MJ: To the extent that there was a government objection, I will 

7 overrule it, subject to limiting the question as to a general 

8 statement as to the type of source. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Were you able to have that issue resolved? 

No. 

So, the masks continued? 

The masks continued. However, I adjusted fire with my 

13 service members, and we were allowed to - I worked it out to where we 

14 moved locations for performance - for physical performance. 

15 Q. Did you have concerns about whether or not the masks were 

16 promoting health and welfare? 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

As a medical services officer, and the duties that you 

19 perform, or have performed, did you, at any point, prior to COVID, 

20 wear a surgical mask, or anything along those lines? 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

In a laboratory environment? 

21 



1 A. Depending upon the SOP of the laboratory specifics, I would 

2 have, but no, I didn't find myself in that situation. 

3 Q. Generally, as a healthcare - do you consider yourself a 

4 healthcare provider, as a medical services officer? 

5 A. As a medical services officer, I'm not a specific provider, 

6 just generally, I'm a preventive medicine officer, worried about the 

7 risk communication of factors to our service members. 

8 Q. And obviously, healthcare providers wear masks 

9 occasionally, depending on their duties? 

10 

11 

12 

A. Depending on their duties, correct. 

CDC: Give me one second, Your Honor. 

MJ: Take your time, counsel. 

13 [The defense counsels conferred.] 

14 Q. 

15 guidance? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

Can you describe - in your research, did you review CDC 

I did. 

The orders that came down through the ranks in the 

18 military, were those based on CDC guidance? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

More times than not, yes. 

In your job description, did you have a role or a duty to 

21 look at that, and interpret it for the military force? 

22 



1 A. Specifically, for certain subsets, for example, insect-

2 borne disease type stuff, yes, that's something I would consider 

3 looking at and factoring it in. 

4 Q. With some of these orders that were received, obviously, 

5 for masks, and potentially tests, did you agree or disagree with some 

6 of the CDC guidance, as it applied to the military? 

7 A. Disagreed. 

8 Q. Why is that? 

9 A. Due to our healthy population. 

10 Q. What was your understanding of CDC guidance with regards to 

11 who the focus was? 

A. Primarily, it was the elderly and immunocompromised. 12 

13 Q. But they didn't say this was specifically guidance for the 

14 military, it was generally the United States? 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

Generally - correct. 

In your opinion, how does the U.S. population differ from 

17 the military population? 

18 

19 

20 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: It is asking for an opinion on the difference between the 

21 military population. 

22 MJ: I'll overrule the objection. 

23 



1 A. The military population is a healthy population, due to the 

2 fact of the physical rigors and the standards that need to be met to 

3 enter the force to begin with. 

4 Q. Would you agree - obviously, generally looking at the U.S. 

5 population compared to the military, there's a significant age 

6 difference; obviously, there's no infants in the military, and no 

7 elderly? 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

That's correct. 

In your role that you were describing, you would provide 

10 guidance or opinions based on what comes down from above, and how 

11 that applies to the military? 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

That's correct. 

Did you have a difference of opinion with regards to masks 

14 or tests, when it came to military? 

15 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What was that? 

That the masks are not effective or necessary for the 

18 military population? 

19 

20 

Q. 

A. 

Because of? 

Because of the fact that we're dealing with a healthy 

21 population, and the effects we were seeing, based on the data we were 

22 seeing from COVID-19, wasn't severe. 
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1 Q. Are you able to speak to that comparatively, with regards 

2 to the flu? 

3 A. Yeah, I mean, it was similar. The flu seemed to have 

4 disappeared for the time period during COVID-19, and COVID-19 took 

5 its place. 

6 Q. Was there a similarity statistically with the military 

7 population as far as, I guess, numbers? 

8 

9 

10 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: It's calling for an expert opinion on statistics, and 

11 numbers between two different strains of viruses and how they've 

12 applied. 

13 

14 

MJ: Counsel, sustained. You can try to lay a foundation, but 

that would be expert testimony. It's beyond the scope of what he'd 

15 be testifying to. 

16 CDC: I will, Your Honor. 

17 Q. Did you have the opportunity to make a comparison between 

18 flu and COVID? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. In what context? 

21 A. The data we were seeing with the CDC. 

22 TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

23 MJ: Basis? 

25 



1 TC: Again, asking for expert testimony about, 'Could you 

2 compare the two----

3 MJ: Counsel, I will sustain the objection. If he has 

4 information that was somehow obtained - I don't know what documents 

5 or records he's looked at - whether they were, in fact, accurate 

6 numbers, whether they were tentative numbers; I have no information 

7 about the source that you've claimed to have relied upon. I will 

8 sustain the objection. 

9 Q. To circle back a little bit. Would calling the Army Public 

10 Health Center the Army's CDC - would that be a fair representation? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

That's correct. 

You touched on this a little bit - would it be accurate to 

13 say that APHC, and more specifically, you, when guidance comes down 

14 from either DoD, health preventative medicine, and higher, all the 

15 way up to the CDC, that you all would interpret that and give 

16 guidance as to how it would apply to the military force? 

17 

18 

19 

20 

A. That was 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: The term "you all would interpret that" doesn't establish 

21 that the accused is - that the Army Public Health Center----

26 



1 MJ: Counsel, I'm going to sustain the objection. I don't know 

2 that the accused is an authorized individual to even speak for an 

3 agency or organization as to their policy interpretation. 

4 CDC: I'll lay some foundation, Your Honor. 

5 

6 

MJ: The objection is sustained. 

Q. What is your current duty position? 

7 [The court reporter adjusted the military judge's microphone.] 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

MJ: 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I apologize for interrupting, counsel. Please continue. 

What is your current duty position? 

Medical entomologist. 

Where? 

Army Public Health Center. 

How long have you been there? 

Since January 2020. 

Are you familiar with the roles Army Public Health Center? 

Yes. 

And, I guess, the rules and regulations that apply? 

Yes. 

Their mission? 

Yes. 

And obviously, on a daily basis, what the function is, 

22 certainly, with regards to your section? 

23 A. Yes. 

27 



1 Q. And within that, give us an overview of the APHC - Army 

2 Public Health Center - mission? 

3 A. To push down - to aid The Surgeon General of the Army to 

4 push down risk communication strategies to the force, and their task 

5 forces, to properly communicate risk to our service members, 

6 specifically, the Army in this case. 

7 Q. That includes interpreting guidance and potentially rules 

8 and regs that might have an impact on health and welfare? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. So, APHC is, would you agree, not just a stepping - they 

11 receive guidance and then pass it along, without researching, 

12 commenting, or giving any input? 

13 TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

14 MJ: Basis? 

15 TC: Leading. 

16 MJ: Sustained. Rephrase the question. 

17 Q. Describe for the court the flow of information coming from 

18 outside APHC, and then what happens within the organization prior to 

19 going out to the force? 

20 A. So, specifically, in my certain circumstance, I would reach 

21 out to various different units in the field, and around the Army, 

22 gather what they're seeing on the ground, what they're experiencing, 

23 talking to certain physicians and various different stakeholders, to 

28 



1 understand the issues, so I could properly formulate the risk 

2 communication, so we could inform our service members of certain 

3 risks in certain geographical areas, at certain times. 

4 Q. So, at least in your role, you don't receive guidance and 

5 blindly follow it and send it out? 

I don't. 6 

7 

A. 

Q. Again, addressing some of your concerns, certainly, with 

8 regards to masks, can you relay to the court an incident that you had 

9 in going through the gate to, I'm assuming, Aberdeen Proving Ground 

10 at one point? Start with when this occurred, and give us some 

11 background and context. 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: Relevancy. 

12 

13 

14 

15 MJ: Counsel, how will this inform the court as to the limited 

16 issue right now of legality? 

17 Give the court a proffer, if you wish. 

18 CDC: Sure. 

19 

20 

Your Honor, obviously, this is going to military function, 

which includes health and welfare. It does go off on a little bit of 

21 a tangent, in that Lieutenant Bashaw was trying to discern the -

22 whether the - certainly, the masks in this case 
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1 MJ: Are you going to establish conditional relevancy at some 

2 point? 

3 CDC: I am - well, if I can finish my proffer, Your Honor? 

4 

5 

MJ: Very well. 

CDC: His concerns, and the implementation of this guidance, and 

6 how, in his mind, the harm of the guidance was having a greater 

7 impact on him and soldiers, compared to the common sense usage of 

8 this guidance. And falling within the framework of military function 

9 and health and welfare. 

10 

11 

MJ: Government? 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

12 First, it is "starting off with a little bit of a tangent" 

13 is what we have an issue with on relevancy, because if it's a 

14 tangent, it's probably not relevant to the underlying issue. 

15 Second, being that we're talking about the lawfulness of 

16 the three orders that he was given on November 30, 2021. The 

17 relevancy of other implementation to other soldiers on other days 

18 and we're talking about - specifically now, we're focusing on the 

19 military duty of the orders he was given. Were those related to his 

20 military duty, a military duty here, or a definition under military 

21 

22 

duty. 

MJ: I understand what the issues are, counsel. 
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1 Mr. Willson, can you focus the questions as to·- again, I 

2 don't want him to make generalizations as to what he thinks or 

3 believes the impact may be on other individuals, or what they may 

4 have thought, or what he thinks they may have thought. If you want 

5 to ask a more limited question as to what occurred to him, and how he 

6 viewed it as it applied to him, I will allow you to ask the question. 

7 But anything broader than that, I think, would be inappropriate. 

8 So, I will sustain the objection in part, and overrule it 

9 in part. Rephrase the question. 

10 CDC: Your Honor, I could avoid him giving his opinion as it 

11 impacts others, but the purpose for - not qualifying him as an expert 

12 - but having him go through his background and his job description 

13 was to show it wasn't just himself that he was concerned about. He 

14 had a focus on the health of the force, and that framed his state of 

15 mind going forward, and drove him in that regard. 

16 MJ: Counsel, you've established that was one of his duties and 

17 responsibilities; he answered that question previously about what his 

18 job responsibilities were, and how he enacted or followed the mandate 

19 of his job. That's been established. 

20 If you are asking about a specific incident at the gate, 

21 you can have him answer that question as it applies to him. 
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1 Q. Can you continue with what occurred at the gate, and on 

2 that story, how did that continue to help frame your state of mind 

3 with regards to the guidance? 

4 A. Copy. 

5 I believe it was when I was still the HHC commander, and I 

6 was doing PT up at Aberdeen Proving Ground-North, and I was driving 

7 through the gate. It was around, I want to say, spring 2021, and I 

8 drive through the gate, and it says "Masks Mandatory for Entry." 

9 

10 

11 

12 

When I got to the gate, I realized that I forgot my mask. I showed 

up at the gate, and I was in my PTs. The gate guard said, 'Sorry, I 

can't let you on. You can't come on. You don't have a mask.' I 

said, you know, I apologize. I looked around, and I had a towel on 

13 my drivers' seat, and I grabbed my towel, and I held it up to my 

14 face, and he said, 'Okay, you're good to go.' So, I thought - just 

15 the orders, you know, it wasn't necessarily about - it's never really 

16 been about health. 

17 CDC: That's all the questions I have for this witness, Your 

18 Honor. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

MJ: Government, do you have cross-examination? 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

[END OF PAGE] 
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1 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

2 Questions by the trial counsel: 

3 Q. You talked on direct about military duties, 

4 A. Yes, sir. 

5 Q And orders in relation to health, correct? 

6 A. Yes, sir. 

7 Q. Would you agree a lawful order can restrict 

8 personal hygiene? 

Depending. 

You can be ordered to shave, correct? 

Correct. 

correct? 

a member's 

9 

10 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. And if you have a religious accommodation for a beard, you 

13 can be ordered to keep it a certain length? 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

Correct. 

And you can have lawful orders that restrict your ability 

16 to consume alcohol? 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

I'm sorry, say that again? 

You can be given an order that restricts your ability to 

19 consume alcohol? 

20 

21 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

You can be given orders that - they can order you to submit 

22 to a blood test, correct? 

23 A. Yes. 

33 



1 

2 

3 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

They can issue orders to provide a urine sample? 

Yes. 

You would agree that all of these are orders you can 

4 receive that you might not like, but you'd still have to follow them, 

5 correct? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

Depending. 

So, when you say that you agree that those orders, those 

8 examples I just gave you, are lawful, you believe that if you were 

9 given those orders, as I just proposed them to you, that it would 

10 depend? 

11 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

Sir, I'm sorry, let me clarify. 

Those specific ones, yes. 

Okay. Even if you didn't like that you couldn't drink 

14 alcohol, you'd still have to obey the order? 

15 A. I'm at the point to where if an individual needs 

16 clarification on an order, they should definitely bring it up with 

17 the individual giving the order, so that would be part of the duty of 

18 the individual receiving the order - to clarify if they needed 

19 clarification, but yes. 

20 Q. So, is it yes or no? You would have to obey the order, or 

21 you wouldn't? 

22 A. Which order was that again? 
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1 Q. The order about consuming alcohol. You said yes at the 

2 end. 

3 A. If there was a G-1 in place, a General Order Number 1 in 

4 place, and that was the order, yes, you would obey. 

5 Q. So, even if you didn't like that order, you'd still have to 

6 obey it? You'd have a duty to obey it? 

7 A. I, personally, would obey, yes. 

8 TC: Thank you. 

9 No further questions, Your Honor. 

10 MJ: Any redirect, Mr. Willson? 

11 CDC: Just briefly, Your Honor. 

12 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

13 Questions by the civilian defense counsel: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Q. Lieutenant Bashaw, do you know what EUA stands for? 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: Outside the scope of cross. 

MJ: Mr. Willson, is there a reason you didn't go into this 

19 earlier? 

20 CDC: I just forgot, Your Honor. I was focused on the military 

21 function aspect. 

22 

23 

MJ: I'll overrule the objection, but please keep it focused. 

CDC: I will. I won't use cross-examination. 
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1 Q. Are you familiar with the term "EUA?" 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. What does that stand for? 

4 A. Emergency use authorization. 

5 Q. What does, in your opinion - based on your knowledge, what 

6 does it apply to? 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: Again, outside the scope. I know you just allowed it, but 

MJ: There's really - do you know what the letters mean, he can 

12 say what the letters mean. If you are making reference to a context 

13 in establishing the orders itself - well, it's an exhibit in the 

14 motions, if you want to introduce it for the purpose of motions -

15 actually, I think it's already been admitted as an appellate exhibit 

16 - but I'll let you continue with your line of questioning. 

17 CDC: I probably have five questions, tops, Your Honor. 

18 

19 

20 

MJ: Go ahead. 

As to the way the question was - I'm going to have you 

rephrase the question. I'm going to overrule the objection, but 

21 please rephrase the question, so I can hear it clearly. If counsel 

22 has a continuing objection, you can make the objection in a moment. 

23 Q. You said EUA is "emergency use authorization?" 
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1 A. Correct. 

2 Q. When did you become aware of that term? 

3 A. Probably - I would say, the beginning of 2021. 

4 Q. Why? Or how? 

5 A. The masking - the COVID-19 EUA masking, I believe, at the 

6 time, and then the testing as well. 

7 Q. To put that into context with what you just previously 

8 testified about, what was going through your mind that led you to an 

9 understanding of that term, and whatever research or discussions you 

10 had regarding EUAs? 

11 A. My concern was risk communication strategy, and regards the 

12 risk benefit analysis, and whether or not individuals were aware that 

13 these were, in fact, EUA products. 

14 Q. How did you come to that conclusion, or discover that 

15 knowledge? 

16 A. Looking at the boxes of a lot of the masking devices, and 

17 seeing the US Codes on it, and kinda digging in and looking at the 

18 Codes themselves. 

19 CDC: I'm trying to narrow my questions down now, Your Honor. 

20 

21 

MJ: Take your time, counsel. 

Q. In that research, or looking at those codes, did you come 

22 across a term "informed consent?u 

23 A. Yes. 
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What's your understanding of informed consent? 1 

2 

Q. 

A. The individual has to be informed of the risks and benefits 

3 of the products they may be participating in. 

4 Q. Based on your job description and experience, why do you 

5 think that would be important? 

6 A. Because the individual needs to be aware that they bear the 

7 sole responsibility of participating in such products. 

8 Q. From a medical services, or a scientist perspective, did 

9 you have concerns with potential reactions or impact of various 

10 devices? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. What was that? 

13 A. Specifically, on the testing, the chemicals that are used 

14 within the reagents and the tests themselves----

15 

16 

17 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: It's calling for testimony about reagents and testing. 

18 Though he has experience in entomology and as a preventive medicine 

19 officer, he hasn't established an expertise in the tests or products. 

20 

21 

MJ: I wasn't taking his testimony as being expert testimony. 

think he was only to what was his personal concerns. If it was 

22 beyond his personal concerns, as to something more general, I would 

23 agree with you, and I would sustain the objection. But if he's only 
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1 answering as to his personal view as to what his concerns were, I'll 

2 overrule the objection. 

3 So, will you please restate the question, and clarify what 

4 his response actually is? 

5 CDC: Yes, Your Honor. 

6 Q. Based on the research, and your concerns with regards to 

7 EUA products, and you were talking about tests, what did you look at 

8 

9 CDC: Your Honor, I'm intentionally avoiding qualifying him as an 

10 expert. 

11 MJ: You can ask him what he looked at, that's fine. I'm just 

12 advising - I'll advise the accused of the same thing - he can provide 

13 his personal concerns, whatever they may or may not have been. He 

14 can provide a justification or an answer why they were his concerns. 

15 He can't make a general statement as to those concerns being 

16 validated or invalidated, or a statement as to some general knowledge 

17 - that's beyond the scope - he's not qualified as an expert to do 

18 that. He can share what his concerns were. I'll allow you to 

19 develop that. 

20 Q. So, you said you were testifying that you had looked at the 

21 box for tests? 

22 

23 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

What box was that? 
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1 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Specifically, the QuickVue. 

What was it about the box that concerned you? 

It specifically stated the EUA statute on it, and just the 

4 fact that the individual, from what I looked at, has the right to 

5 refuse these products. 

6 Q. Within the law - but on the box itself, you were discussing 

7 agents or reagents? 

8 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What is that? 

Specifically, the reagent is the chemical used, once - from 

11 my understanding - once the nose swab was complete, to put that into 

12 the reagent for the results, and the finishing of that rapid antigen 

13 test. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Are you familiar with what that chemical was? 

Yes. Specifically, for QuickVue tests, yes. 

What was it? 

Proline - there was multiple chemicals listed, but one of 

18 the ones - off the top of my head, I can't specifically state the 

19 chemical, but I do have - I did print out SOSs and look at these 

20 chemicals 

21 

22 

Q. 

A. 

I'm sorry, what is an SOS? 

An SOS is a safety data sheet. 
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1 So, I printed these off, looked at the chemicals, and then 

2 on the SDSs, it usually has your signal word, which is "CAUTION," 

3 "WARNING," "DANGER," things like that, and I want to say two out of 

4 the six chemicals that were listed had "DANGER," and one had 

5 "WARNING." 

6 

7 

Q. 

A. 

What concerns did that create for you? 

That was specific personal health concerns with these tests 

8 - the fact that potential mitigating factors, to be exposed to the 

9 reagent, might not have been in place. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

Q. 

A. 

That was your concern? 

Yes. 

CDC: That's all the questions I have, Your Honor. 

MJ: Government, with regard to the issues that were defense 

14 counsel reopened direct, I'll give you the opportunity to cross, as 

15 to the EUA-type questions. 

16 TC: Yes, Your Honor, we'll be brief. 

17 RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

18 Questions by the trial counsel: 

19 Q. I just want to be clear - you stated that you became aware 

20 of emergency use authorization at the beginning of 2021? 

21 

22 

23 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

I believe, around that timeframe. 

Do you know a month? 

I don't. 
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1 Q. 

2 correct? 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

You were charged in this case in November 30, 2021, 

That's correct. 

So you knew about EUAs for less than a year? 

Correct. 

What Code section did you find the term "EUA" in? 

Specifically? 

[Affirmative response.] 

USC 10 1107(a), and USC 21, and USC 43. 

Those all contain emergency use authorization; that's what 

11 you used to base your knowledge of emergency use authorization on? 

12 

13 

14 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

That's correct. 

You said your concern was over the QuickVue test? 

My actual concern is with all of them, but the QuickVue 

15 specifically; so, the DoD pushed down three----

16 Q. The QuickVue specifically - that was the test you'd looked 

17 at that informed your concern is what you just stated, correct? 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

And you agree that FDA is the one that promulgates the 

20 emergency use authorizations for these products? 

21 A. That's correct. 
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1 Q. You're not aware of what procedures and methods the FDA 

2 goes through, in complete, for each product that they issue an 

3 emergency use authorization for? 

4 A. I'm aware that the FDA waived good manufacturing practices 

5 for these products. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

But generally, you don't work at the FDA, correct? 

Correct. 

You're not a scientist there for the FDA? 

Correct. 

You don't promulgate policy or procedures, or sign any 

11 documents, on behalf of the Secretary of Health and Human Services? 

12 A. Correct. 

13 TC: Thank you. 

14 No further questions, Your Honor. 

15 MJ: Any further direct examination? 

16 CDC: No, Your Honor. 

17 MJ: I have, I believe, one question for you. 

18 EXAMINATION BY THE COURT 

19 Questions by the military judge: 

20 Q. The reagent that you have made reference to with the EUA, 

21 that was contained in the vial that you would then put the swab into 

22 for - as I understand it - I want to make sure I understand it 

23 correctly - you would take a swab; you would then put it into a 
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1 reagent, and then that would go into some kind of little kit that 

2 would have some kind of marking indicating a test result. Is that 

3 correct? 

4 A. That's my understanding of it, correct. However, they did 

5 push down specific directions on the step-by-step for it. 

6 Q. I'm just trying to make sure I understand. But the reagent 

7 was what you would take the swab and - let me try to understand the 

8 chronology of what you were talking about - you'd have a swab, you'd 

9 put it into a reagent, then you'd take the reagent, which had reacted 

10 with the swab somehow, and pour that into some type of testing 

11 vessel, is that correct? 

12 A. I'd have to go back and view and look specifically on the 

13 step-by-step to be accurate, Your Honor. That's my understanding, 

14 yes. 

15 MJ: Based on the court's questions, first, to the defense - do 

16 you have any additional redirect, based on the court's question and 

17 the accused's answer? 

18 CDC: Just briefly, Your Honor. 

19 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

20 Questions by the civilian defense counsel: 

21 Q. What was your specific concern with regards to that test 

22 and the reagent? 
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1 A. From my experience in a pesticide holding facility, there 

2 was a lot of dangerous chemicals that I was dealing with, and the 

3 processes we had in place to deal with, and the standard operating 

4 procedures that we had in place to deal with these specific 

5 chemicals, you know, to make it abundantly safe for the user of the 

6 product, and to effectively target what we needed to target, and then 

7 fast-forward to this, where it's pushed down, but there are no safety 

8 operating procedures in place. From my understanding, there are no 

9 mitigating factors for the end-user, which bears sole responsibility 

10 if something were to go wrong. 

11 

12 

Q. Let me back you up. 

What I mean is, because you kept referring to the reagent -

13 what was your specific concern with regards to the reagent? 

14 A. The dangerous chemical - the chemicals that wer~ contained 

15 within the reagent. 

16 Q. Within that concern, what did you believe could potentially 

17 happen that might create a health risk? 

18 A. It could spill; there was inhalation hazards; dermal 

19 exposure, where it leeches through your skin, things of that nature -

20 splashes in the eye, stuff like that. 

21 CDC: Thank you. 

22 

23 

MJ: Government? 
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1 RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

2 Questions by the trial counsel: 

3 Q. So, I know you answered already that you don't work for the 

4 FDA. Were you in any facility a part of the FDA that tested these 

5 tests with reagents in them? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

So you weren't there when they were making any assessments 

8 on the dangerous - themselves, talking about the FDA? 

9 

10 

11 

12 call? 

A. To my understanding, they never did those tests. 

TC: No further questions, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense, do you have any additional witnesses you'd like to 

13 CDC: No, Your Honor. 

14 [The accused returned to his seat at counsel table.] 

15 

16 

17 

MJ: Government, do you have any witnesses you'd like to call? 

TC: No, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense, do you wish to make any additional argument that 

18 supplements anything you've already provided to the court in writing? 

19 CDC: Yes, Your Honor. 

20 Your Honor, we're claiming the orders were unlawful, part 2 

21 of the five elements under Article 90 ( c) ( 2) (A) (iv) . 

22 First, the requirement to mask and test does not relate to 

23 a military duty; 
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1 Second, the orders are in direct conflict with statutory 

2 law. 

3 With regards to the military duty, Article 90 states the 

4 order must relate to a military duty which includes all activities 

5 reasonably necessary to accomplish a military mission, or safeguard 

6 or promote the morale, discipline and usefulness of members of a 

7 command, and directly connected with the maintenance of good order in 

8 the service. The order may not, without such a valid military 

9 purpose, interfere with the private rights or personal affairs. 

10 First, we would argue that, certainly, in Lieutenant 

11 Bashaw's case, he was concerned about the masks and the tests because 

12 of the potential harm to himself, as well as other soldiers. I'll 

13 get into the EUA standards, but he testified that EUA is an emergency 

14 use authorization that is implemented when certain products are 

15 needed, and they haven't been approved for that use, or they've been 

16 approved for one use, but not approved that they're now being 

17 implemented for. 

18 His concern was especially based on his knowledge and 

19 background, the proper safety protocols and testing had not been 

20 implemented for these devices, and therefore, they were not meeting 

21 the definition of military duty, or used for military duty, in one 

22 regard, because of the potential harm they were going to cause to the 

23 force. 
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1 This created a heightened alert in his mind because his 

2 role was to try to protect the force in health-related and insect-

3 borne and airborne viruses and diseases. 

4 The mandates for masks and testing were not unique to the 

5 military, but were pushed out to the entire country, and in fact, the 

6 world. 

7 We would argue the testing, and certainly, masks, did not 

8 promote morale and discipline, but did interfere with the private 

9 rights, or personal affairs, of Lieutenant Bashaw and others, forcing 

10 him to wear a mask and test. 

11 The point of the story at the gate was the lack of common 

12 sense, and forward thought, with regards to these mandates. They 

13 came down from the CDC, but they weren't implemented and adjusted for 

14 the group that they were mandated to - the military. 

15 As he described corning through the gate, he didn't have a 

16 mask, so he was told you can't come in because you don't have a mask, 

17 but simply putting a towel in front of his face, just to drive 

18 through, apparently met the requirement, at least with regards to 

19 that gate guard. 

20 Lieutenant Bashaw testified as to - although briefly - the 

21 potential harms of masks and testing that he learned through his 

22 research as a concerned citizen, and as a medical services officer. 
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1 I know that the court has ruled on this, but these are some 

2 of the issues that we would've delved into in more specifics with our 

3 experts, had our experts been approved. 

4 The government, in their motion, cited purely military 

5 duties, and primarily cited duties such as keeping your weapon clean, 

6 wearing your battle rattle in combat, instances such as that, and 

7 clearly, nobody would argue that that's not a military function, or a 

8 military function. But at what point does the military get to say 

9 and dictate every single aspect of a soldier? We had a discussion 

10 earlier with regards to brushing of teeth. I don't believe there's 

11 an instance out there where the military says, 'I'm ordering you to 

12 brush your teeth.' Certainly, take care of your dental hygiene by 

13 going to the dentist annually. But simple functions like that, and 

14 the mask is so intrusive that it requires a person to put that over 

15 their face - I apologize, Your Honor, I don't have the exhibit on top 

16 of my head. But certainly, one or more of the FRAGOs referred to, 

17 you don't have to wear your mask in your on-post government quarters, 

18 unless an unvaccinated person comes to your on-post government 

19 quarters, then everybody should be wearing a mask. Just the lack of 

20 common sense in the implementation of this guidance that came down 

21 certainly takes it outside of the military function. 

22 Your Honor, I could go on and on comparing what may or may 

23 not be a military function, versus what is clearly a military 
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1 function. We would just argue that the masks and the tests were not 

2 military functions. Certainly, when the flu season comes around, 

3 people aren't told, 'Wear a mask ... test, even though you' re 

4 asymptomatic.' 

5 With regards to the second argument for lawfulness, the 

6 emergency use authorization of tests and masks, the order must not 

7 conflict with statutory or constitutional rights of the person 

8 receiving the order. The government, in their motion, they seem to 

9 believe and argue that 10 USC 1107 (a) (2) means that the HHS - Health 

10 and Human Services - Secretary has not required that an EUA includes 

11 informed consent. 

12 Your Honor, throughout this, when we refer to informed 

13 consent in our argument, we're referring to the requirements for 

14 subjects - in this case, military - be informed that the product is 

15 an EUA, potential severe reactions and side effects, as well as their 

16 absolute right to refuse that product because it is an EUA. 

17 The government attempts to reword the statute in their 

18 motion - their 8 April motion - by claiming that the HHS Secretary 

19 must, in addition to claiming an emergency, authorize products as 

20 EUAs, then determine that informed consent is required for each EUA 

21 product; if he or she does, then 1107(a) applies, and the President 

22 must waive for military members. This is a very unique application 

23 and statutory construction, but is not practical. 
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1 EUA is a status, and nowhere in the law does it say that 

2 the HHS Secretary must, in addition to authorizing a product as an 

3 EUA, that there must then be a determination that informed consent 

4 applies. It would be extremely cumbersome to require the Secretary 

5 to make that determination for each and every product in a letter to 

6 the manufacture, and the assumption is there's thousands of those. 

7 So, the informed consent, which, as I stated, includes the 

8 right to refuse because of the potential harms involved, is part of 

9 EUA. That's the law. You can't parse out and say, 'Well, this is an 

10 EUA product, but we didn't designate informed consent as part of 

11 that, therefore, that doesn't apply.' To require such would 

12 completely negate the EUA law and informed consent. EUA was designed 

13 to put products on the street quickly, in an emergency, to assist. 

14 Those products are not licensed, because they have not endured the 

15 required rigorous testing and studies to ensure their safety and 

16 potential side effects. If the HHS Secretary had to implement 

17 informed consent for each, why would he or she do so? As part of the 

18 law, they have to incorporate that, thus, negating Congress's intent 

19 in protecting the American public, especially in light of the fact 

20 that EUA status protects the manufactures and everyone, all the way 

21 down the line, up until the user. So, if a user says, 'Yes, I'm 

22 willing to accept this EUA product,' or if they do, even without 

23 having been given informed consent, everybody who has developed or 
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1 distributed, manufactured, or ordered, is free from liability. They 

2 can't sue those people under an EUA status. It is only when that 

3 product becomes licensed that anybody actually has the right to go 

4 forward and sue, if they have a significant impact or effect, which 

5 is why you see, over the years, all of those law firm commercials, 

6 'If you've been harmed by such-and-such product, call our law firm, 

7 we can help you.' 

8 Thus, negating Congress's intent in protecting the American 

9 public, especially in light of the EUA status, protects the 

10 manufacturers all the way down the line, thus, leaving the user or 

11 subject without recourse, if all goes bad, therefore, the need for 

12 that person to be fully informed, and given the option to say, 'Based 

13 on that informed consent, I am not accepting this product.' 

14 Otherwise, we all potentially become test subjects without knowing 

15 the potential harmful effects, and our right to choose. 

16 I want to note for the court - I'm not claiming that the 

17 court has made this mistake, I just want to point this out, because 

18 early on, I made this mistake - that 10 USC 1107 and 10 USC 1107(a) 

19 are separate and distinct regulations. 

20 In 1107 (a) (A) (1), Congress provided for an outlet for the 

21 military, in the event of such an emergency. The President, under 

22 informed consent, may waive that, and as it states, "may be waived, 

23 only by the President, only if the President determines in writing 
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1 that complying with such requirement is not in the interests of 

2 national security." There's no reason why Congress would put that in 

3 there, and we would note that that law was implemented - 1107(a) - in 

4 October of 2006; much, if not all, of the case law that we were 

5 reviewing were all prior to 2006, so the speculation would be that 

6 Congress implemented that, based on a lot of that case law. 

7 On page 8 of their motion, in the middle, the government 

8 cites 1107 (a) (2), the word "that" toward the end refers specifically 

9 to emergency use products and their authorization. The requirement 

10 for informed consent, and the right to accept or refuse, goes 

11 directly to the determination by the HHS Secretary. 

12 So, the government is basically attempting to artfully 

13 change the language of the statute by stating, in plain language, and 

14 then providing their own interpretation claiming that the HHS 

15 Secretary has to a) - and as the law status - can I have one second, 

16 Your Honor - "The Secretary has authorized the emergency use of the 

17 product; 2) Provided the significant known and potential benefits and 

18 risks of such use," and then the option to accept or refuse. That's 

19 within the informed consent. 

20 Prior to that - Your Honor, I'm reading from 21 [USC] 360 

21 bbb (3); this is (e) (1) (A) (i), "Appropriate conditions designed to 

22 ensure that healthcare professionals administering the product are 

23 informed that the emergency use of the product, the significant known 
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1 and potential benefits and risks of the product, and the alternatives 

2 to the product," and then it goes down into informed consent, 

3 appropriate conditions, designed to ensure that individuals to whom 

4 the product is administered are informed, and then have that right to 

5 refuse. 

6 There's nowhere in the law that it says that once a product 

7 becomes EUA, the HHS Secretary then, on top of that, has to implement 

8 informed consent. Informed consent is part of the EUA law, again, 

9 because the rigorous testing has not been implemented for this 

10 product, or this particular use of a product that may be licensed in 

11 a different context. 

12 I apologize, Your Honor, I have an alarm going off. 

13 And then, Your Honor, referring to page 11 of the 

14 government's 8 April response regarding lawfulness, in the second 

15 paragraph, they seem to introduce a quote - I'm assuming the quote is 

16 from 21 USC 360 - "The assumption is that the FDA issued an EUA 

17 authorizing - one second, Your Honor. 

18 I believe this is Government [sic-Appellate] Exhibit XI-F, 

19 it is the 24 April 2020 EUA mask letter. It talks about creating an 

20 EUA standard for masks. 

21 MJ: Counsel, can you identify which exhibit that is for the 

22 record? 
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1 TC: Yes, Your Honor, that is Appellate Exhibit XI-F, Your 

2 Honor. 

MJ: Thank you, counsel. 3 

4 CDC: Your Honor, I know we were directed to the 21 USC 360bbb, 

5 and the executive documents. Our reading of the executive documents 

6 portion - it does not - first of all, the case law involved predates 

7 the 1107(a) regulation, and we would argue that it was congressional 

8 intent to say, as it lays out in 1107(a), that in order for the 

9 military specifically to be mandated, they must use or have an EUA 

10 product forced on them, the President would have to make a specific 

11 designation stating that, because of national security, and with 

12 regards to anthrax and those cases, that there is a particular 

13 theater, conflict, or something unique to the military requires the 

14 President to waive informed consent, and basically say, 'Yes, you can 

15 force it,' even though we understand the potential safety concerns, 

16 and the military members' rights and constitutional rights to not put 

17 something in their body that could potentially be harmful to 

18 themselves. Obviously, they can be ordered into combat, but under 

19 1107(a), the President has to make that specific decision, and tie 

20 that to national security, and be very definitive about it, not just 

21 generally waive it for everybody in general. 

22 In reading the executive documents, on page 398 of Section 

23 360bbb-3, 'Authorization for Medical Products for Use in 
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1 Emergencies," we read that in the context that masks were allowed to 

2 be used as emergency use authorized products because masks were not 

3 used by the general public, and in order to try and help protect the 

4 U.S. generally, masks were encouraged in certain contexts - people 

5 were told, if you want to come in my storefront, if you're a federal 

6 employee, if you want to work in this federal building, you have to 

7 wear a mask. We don't read that as the President saying, 'In the 

8 military context, I am waiving that informed consent aspect, or 

9 

10 

removing the EUA designation for masks.' Basically, when masks were 

made EUAs, as the exhibit describes, it included surgical masks 

11 blue masks that people normally wear; I guess, a towel, bandanas, 

12 cotton masks, all sorts of different masks. The concern was that 

the 

13 healthcare providers, because everybody would now be - most everybody 

14 would now be wearing a mask - healthcare providers won't be able to 

15 get the masks that they needed, and then states, in the footnote of 

16 this exhibit, "A facemask is a device, with or without a face shield, 

17 that covers the user's nose and mouth, and may or may not meet fluid 

18 barrier or filtration efficiency levels." It includes cloth face 

19 coverings as a subset. It may be for a single or multiple uses, and 

20 if for multiple uses, it may be laundered or cleaned. There are many 

21 products marketed in the U.S. as facemasks that offer a range of 

22 protection against potential hazards. 
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1 The masks fall into the category of products unapproved for 

2 this specific use, and that's why they had to become EDA, because 

3 they weren't developed for that particular use, especially a bandana 

4 was never intended to be a mask by the manufacturers. 

5 One second, Your Honor. 

6 [After pause.] The EDA for the masks was distributed by 

7 the FDA on 24 April 2020. This is - Manufacturers of Masks, a letter 

8 to those people, letting them know, 'We are giving you emergency use 

9 authorization to manufacture your masks for these uses that are 

10 outside what the normal use was for.' 

11 The memo of the President - I believe it's what the 

12 executive documents were based on, was from approximately 11 March, 

13 so a month later, the EDA came out for masks. The executive document 

14 discusses general use, respirators, for healthcare personnel, and 

15 concerns for the lack of healthcare masks for those people. 

16 As I was stating, on page 11 of the government's 8 April 

17 response regarding lawfulness, in the second paragraph, they seem to 

18 introduce a quote - again, it's unclear, because there aren't closed 

19 quotes, but regardless, in the first part, wherein there appeared a 

20 quote, and state, "The FDA issued an EDA authorizing the use of 

21 facemasks for use by members of the general public, including 

22 healthcare personnel in healthcare settings, as PPE." The government 

23 attempts to argue that EDA for masks only applies to use in a 
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1 healthcare setting, and then referred to the 24 April 2020 EUA, which 

2 is the exhibit that I was referring to, to masks used by the general 

3 public. The phrase describing healthcare professionals, or HCP, in 

4 healthcare settings, wherein protected personnel, is all one phrase. 

5 So, it doesn't mean that it applies to military or the general 

6 public, and healthcare individuals in a healthcare setting; it is 

7 healthcare individuals in a healthcare setting, and then outside of 

8 that, the general public. All in one phrase, it does not, in any 

9 way, describe the public having to be in a healthcare setting. The 

10 24 April letter is simply making a point of clarification, because 

11 there were questions from the original EUA issued on 18 April dealing 

12 with masks that the EUA also covered healthcare professionals in a 

13 healthcare setting, that were wearing personal protective equipment 

14 (PPE). 

15 Judge, I don't know if you want the exhibit cite for the 18 

16 April letter. 

17 

18 

MJ: Yes, please. 

TC: [After pause.] 

19 the 18 April one. 

I didn't cite it, Your Honor. I don't have 

20 MJ: That's for the executive order? 

21 CDC: The 18 April was the initial letter from the FDA, which was 

22 then clarified and is more comprehensive in the exhibit that we have. 
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1 MJ: You can certainly, if you have a copy of it, you can have 

2 it marked, if it's not already marked. 

3 CDC: We'll have to get a copy, but it's all incorporated into 

4 the exhibit - the 24 April. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

TC: Which would be [AE] XI-F, Your Honor. 

MJ: Which I have. 

CDC: I'm just referencing it; I'm not pulling anything directly 

out of it, Your Honor. It clarifies that healthcare providers were 

9 authorized to wear an EUA mask, and were not limited to only wearing 

10 authorized surgical masks that - typically, which was the N95 that 

11 healthcare providers would wear in surgery or similar. 

12 In Footnote 1, which I did read, the FDA goes on to 

13 elaborate about facemasks, and that they are devices - and that masks 

14 do include cloth masks, and that was part of the EUA for the general 

15 public, because again, the major concern was that healthcare 

16 providers would not have access to the masks that they needed, 

17 because the general public was all now moving to masks. 

18 This demonstrates that the EUA is aimed at the general 

19 public, because the healthcare providers clearly do not wear cloth 

20 masks in healthcare settings, they don't wear bandanas in surgery, 

21 and things like that. 

22 The 24 April - again, the exhibit XI-F - "The FDA issued an 

23 emergency use authorization authorizing the use of face masks for use 
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1 by members of the general public" - this is the quote that the 

2 government has in their motion, "issued an EUA authorizing the use of 

3 facemasks for use by members of the general public, including 

4 healthcare personnel in healthcare settings." It is our 

5 understanding the government is reading that to include, "in 

6 healthcare settings by the general public," but it clearly puts it 

7 all into "healthcare personnel in healthcare settings ... " "To cover 

8 their noses and mouths, in accordance with CDC recommendations to 

9 prevent the spread of the virus." 

10 One second, Your Honor. 

11 

12 

13 

[After pause.] Your Honor, I believe that's the gist of 

our argument. Just that 1107 does apply - masks, based on [AE] XI-F, 

are EUA products. The tests are EUA products, in some regards, 

14 certainly as Lieutenant Bashaw testified, that one particular test -

15 and each product receives an EUA status by the FDA to that 

16 

17 

manufacturer. So, it is generally not an EUA standard or designation 

that is put out as a broad-blanket designation. It applies to 

18 specific products. 

19 Again, going back to my argument that, for the HHS 

20 Secretary to issue a letter to a manufacturer and say because we need 

21 XYZ product for this emergency, we are designating this as an 

22 emergency use authorized product, and therefore, it is an EUA. 

23 There's no requirement for them to then turn around and say, 'Now, 
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1 we'll make the determination as to whether or not informed consent is 

2 

3 

required, or is not required.' Even the EUA letters don't go into 

that requirement to implement informed consent or not. It is a 

4 requirement - it's a requirement of the EUA law; the only exception 

5 is for the military, when the President specifically designates, 

6 under 1107 (a) (A) (1), that, because of national security, and 

7 potentially because of a certain conflict or otherwise, that he is 

8 waiving informed consent, because he has to have a working, ready 

9 military force. 

10 Thank you, Your Honor. 

MJ: Thank you, counsel. 

Government? 

11 

12 

13 TC: (12:44/15:28) Yes, Your Honor. 

14 Your Honor, the government is going to address the duty 

15 question first, and then move on on the EUA question. 

16 First, the government would like to clarify that Article 

17 90 ( c) ( 4) says - to fully state what that section says, it says, "The 

18 order must relate to military duty, which includes all activities 

19 reasonably necessary to accomplish a military mission, or safeguard 

20 or promote morale, discipline and usefulness of members of a command, 

21 and directly connected with the maintenance of good order and 

22 discipline." 
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1 It continues and says, "The order may not, without such a 

2 valid military purpose, interfere with the private rights or personal 

3 affairs. However, the dictates of a person's conscious religion, or 

4 personal philosophy, cannot justify or excuse the disobedience of an 

5 otherwise lawful order. 

6 So, this question is only a question about military duty if 

7 the order is lawful. If the order is unlawful, as defense claims 

8 under the statutory section in "5," if it violates the accused rights 

9 under the statutory interpretation, then it is an unlawful order, and 

10 yes, it could be considered not connected to military duty. 

11 However, if you find under the statutory interpretation 

12 that the order to test or mask was lawful, then it would seem, based 

13 on the plain reading, when Captain McCarthy issued that order -

14 Captain Alexander McCarthy is the company commander, issued those 

15 orders per the EXORDs and op orders that came down above him, in 

16 order to promote morale, discipline and the health and safety of 

17 soldiers within the unit, within the buildings and locations at the 

18 Public Health Center in Building E-5800, that would be related to a 

19 military duty. 

20 

21 

Further, I think this question is well-answered in Schwartz 

and Casala at length. First, as the accused even stated, lawful 

22 orders can restrict service members' personal hygiene, consumption of 

23 alcoholic beverages, driving privileges, financial transactions, and 
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1 the Supreme Court has acknowledged that the military is, by 

2 necessity, a specialized society, that we are a different group of 

3 people, just by belonging in the military and in the Army. 

4 That can go as far as ordering a soldier to provide a blood 

5 or urine sample, something that can't be done in the civilian world. 

6 That makes us very different. 

7 The court also says in Schwartz, when they're citing 

8 Womack, they say, "The military, and society at large, have a 

9 compelling interest in having those who defend the nation remain 

10 healthy and capable of performing their duty." Wearing a mask and 

11 testing before you come into an office with other individuals, at the 

12 time, on November 30, 2021, was determined to be something that 

13 should be done to keep people healthy, and so that everybody could 

14 perform their duties. 

15 In this case, there were also - he was given the option of 

16 teleworking, right. Also, another option to protect the health and 

17 safety of everyone, including himself, because the soldier was 

18 unvaccinated. 

19 Additionally, when it comes to masks, as defense said, for 

20 healthcare providers, the government still holds that wearing a cloth 

21 facemask does not fall within the EUA. It logically doesn't make 

22 sense that they would fall in there. But, in the alternative, if the 

23 court does find that they fall within the EUA, that's why the 
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1 government went into an EUA analysis. I'm going to safe that for 

2 when I go into the testing because I think it will make more sense, 

3 as we go through the documents and the statutory regulations as to 

4 how this is supposed to be answered and analyzed when we look at 

5 products under 10 USC 1107(a), Your Honor. 

6 So, to that end, the accused said two things in his 

7 testimony. One was that he got his basis for the EUAs from 10 USC 

8 1107(a), which is what we're going to start with, Your Honor. The 

9 second thing important is that he said he looked at the QuickVue 

10 tests. So, the QuickVue tests he's referencing are from the 

11 manufacturer of QuickVue - the manufacturer of QuickVue tests is the 

12 Quidel Corporation. So, when you look at their EUA, and that would 

13 be Appellate Exhibit XI-4 - one moment, Your Honor. 

14 [After pause.] That will be Appellate Exhibit XI-D, Your 

15 Honor, is the QuickVue test EUA. That's the test that the accused 

16 stated he looked at, and that's what caused his concern, and what 

17 spurred his concerns about not testing, and the dangerousness of 

18 them. 

19 To go into the analysis, I think defense misinterprets what 

20 the government's explanation - and misinterprets the statute, the 

21 plain reading of the statute. The government is going to go through 

22 it, Your Honor, and that's 1107(a), Emergency Use Products. 
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1 Paragraph one, the waiver which defense is talking about, 

2 that the President is required, it says, "In the case of the 

3 administration of a product authorized for emergency use under 

4 Section 564 of the Federal Drug and Cosmetic Act to members of the 

5 armed forces, the condition described in Section 564 (e) (1) (A) (ii-iii) 

6 of such act, and required under paragraph la or 2a of such section in 

7 564(e), designed to ensure that individuals are informed of an option 

8 to accept or refuse administration of a product, may be waived only 

9 by the President, only if the President determines, in writing, that 

10 complying with such a requirement is not in the interests of the 

11 national security." So, that is the basis of where they're getting 

12 their informed consent and waiver from the President. That makes 

13 sense. 

14 But we have to continue reading the statute, and when we go 

15 to paragraph two, it specifically says, "The waiver authority 

16 provided in paragraph one," the paragraph I just read, "shall not be 

17 construed to apply to any case other than a case in which an 

18 individual is required to be informed of an option to accept or 

19 refuse administration of a particular product, by reason of a 

20 determination by the Secretary of Health and Human Services that 

21 emergency use of such product is authorized under Section 564 of the 

22 Federal Drug and Cosmetic Act." 
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1 So, unless it's required by the Secretary of Health and 

2 Human Services, then there is no waiver required by the President. 

3 To do that, we go to the statutory implementation of the Food, Drug 

4 and Cosmetic Act, Your Honor; that's what brings use to 21 USC 

5 Section 360bbb-3, Your Honor. 

6 When we navigate to subsection "e," which mimics the Act, 

7 we find, "Conditions of authorization," that is (e) (1), which is 

8 unapproved product, and then (A)-Required conditions. So, these are 

9 conditions in which, with respect to the emergency use of an 

10 unapproved product, "The Secretary, to the extent of the applicable 

11 circumstances described in subsection (b) ( 1) shall, for a person who 

12 carries out any activity for which the authorization is issued, 

13 establishes such conditions on an authorization under this section, 

14 as the Secretary finds necessary or appropriate to protect the public 

15 heal th, including the fallowing ... " 

16 So, those are the - below that are listed four categories 

17 that the Secretary of Health [and Human Services] may include, under 

18 their conditions that they're placing on an EUA. When we look at 

19 those, those four categories are: 

20 Appropriate conditions for healthcare professionals; 

21 Appropriate conditions for individuals - that's the one 

22 that the accused is citing, as his basis for needing informed 

23 consent; 
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1 Appropriate conditions for monitoring and reporting of 

2 adverse effects associated with the emergency use of the product; and 

3 The last one, paragraph four, for manufacturers of the 

4 product, appropriate conditions concerning record keeping and 

5 reporting, including records accessed by the Secretary with respect 

6 to the emergency use of the product. 

7 So, nowhere does it say there, Your Honor, that there has 

8 to be separate determination for individuals, or healthcare 

9 professionals, after the fact. This is a determination made by the 

10 Secretary of Health and Human Services when they are issuing the EUA. 

11 I think it goes without saying to say that the FDA can look at a 

12 product prior to giving out an EUA, and conduct this analysis prior 

13 to issuing it. There's nothing there that says it has to be after 

14 the fact, at least for individuals. 

15 MJ: Let me interrupt you there. Because in March of '20, the 

16 President issued the EUA - a finding as to facemasks were exempted 

17 from the informed consent aspect. Is that what he did with the 

18 executive document? He actually did go and do that - if it wasn't 

19 required, why do it? 

20 TC: I cannot speak on behalf of the President, Your Honor. 

21 his legal team determined that that was a safe option to do, maybe 

If 

22 that is something separate that he chose to do - I can say that that 

23 executive order preempted the emergency use authorizations for the 
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1 testing, at a minimum. I believe it also preempts the emergency use 

2 authorizations for the masking as well. 

3 MJ: It directly addresses masks, at least on its face, but that 

4 was a finding by President Trump that there was an emergency 

5 situation at hand that warranted exercising the presidential 

6 authority to potentially remove all the requirements. Is that not 

7 what he did? 

8 TC: That is not the government's interpretation of what that 

9 order did, Your Honor - that he was not waiving informed consent, at 

10 least to service members specifically. He may have waived other 

11 authorities to all, but not specifically to the context of 

12 individuals under this subsection. 

MJ: Okay. 13 

14 TC: Your Honor, understanding that the Secretary makes that 

15 analysis before issuing the EUA, that brings us to the actual EUAs 

16 themselves. When we look at the EUA itself that I just cited for the 

17 QuickVue test, we go down to Section IV, "Conditions of 

18 Authorization," and it affirmatively states, "Pursuant to Section 

19 564(e) of the Act, I am establishing the following conditions to this 

20 authorization." So, the Secretary of Health and Human Services is 

21 saying, 'I am establishing the following conditions.' That is where 

22 they lay out the conditions for the EUA, and they clearly took time 

23 to think about what conditions they wanted to apply, because we have 
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1 almost 2 ½ pages of conditions that relate to manufacturers and 

2 distributors of authorized products, for the conditions related to 

3 advertising and promotion - nowhere there does it say anything about 

4 informed consent. That is not a condition that's applied to 

5 individuals; it's not a condition that is applied to even healthcare 

6 professionals. But specifically, the Secretary of Health and Human 

7 Services does not establish a condition under there. If there is no 

8 condition existing under the EUA, then there was nothing for the 

9 President to be required to waive. 

10 So, even if the President were to come out after the fact 

11 and state affirmatively that 'I waive this,' in the event that it 

12 exists, the government can only assume that it's a preventative 

13 measure made by competent legal minds that advise the President or 

14 the White House as to steps he should take in order to prevent legal 

15 issues down the road, but that does not inherently create a condition 

16 under Section IV of the EUAs. 

17 Again, that brings the government back to the question 

18 about - if the court finds that, for some reason, Lieutenant Bashaw 

19 was required to wear an EUA mask, which the government is not 

20 contending, but in the alternative, the government finds that he was 

21 required, again, we go to the EUA for - apologies, Your Honor. The 

22 EUA I was looking at when I was talking before was actually the one 

23 for the masks; there's actually the one for QuickVue in Section IV -
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1 it lists the same language, pursuant to Section 564(e) of the Act, 

2 "I'm establishing the following conditions on this authorization," 

3 and that is where it discusses the Quidel Corporation, "u," an 

4 authorized distributor, and continues with additional conditions, all 

5 of which, again, still do not have any conditions for individuals, 

6 just to be clear. 

7 But that brings the government back, as it's already stated 

8 and already read, the EUA for masks also does not establish that 

9 condition. The Secretary of Health and Human Services, in creating 

10 the lengthy emergency use authorizations, and the thought process 

11 that goes through that analysis, it doesn't make sense that they 

12 wouldn't be able to conduct that analysis prior to. There's nothing 

13 in the rules or the statutes that require them to do it after the 

14 fact. 

15 MJ: Let me ask you, just so I'm clear. Why would the statute, 

16 under 1107(a), where the informed consent rule appears to be written, 

17 contain superfluous language, such as "presidential consent?" That 

18 is in the statute. I doubt that it was written in for no impact or 

19 no purpose. Why would that language be in there, if it didn't at 

20 least contemplate that there would be a time or a situation where the 

21 President could act, had he or she chosen to do so? 

22 

23 

TC: I concur, Your Honor. 

unnecessarily or superfluously. 

I don't think it's in there 

It's there for a reason - in the 
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1 event that that condition is ever actually put in an EUA, we have a 

2 method for handling that, because the military are a separate entity 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

of the populace than the general public. So, they put that condition 

there, in the event that it is actually ever needed. But, 

unfortunately, in this case, it does not. It doesn't apply to this 

case. It may apply to a future case, in which an emergency use 

authorization product comes out. I think that there may be 

8 situations, as we've seen with 1107, where there is investigational 

9 new drugs that are issued, or issues on that side, and where the 

10 presidential waiver comes in and applies. But just because that 

11 waiver exists, that doesn't mean the Secretary has put that condition 

12 in this case, Your Honor. 

13 MJ: What I'd like you to address, and I'll allow the defense to 

14 supplement their argument as well - I want you to address two things, 

15 if you will, for me. 

16 First, for argument's sake, if the EUA did require 

17 presidential authority or approval, does that impact whether or not 

18 any of the following regulations, guidance, or otherwise, concerning 

19 testing or mask wear - again, this is not about vaccines, that's 

20 outside the realm of this hearing - would that necessarily make such 

21 instructions or orders necessarily illegal or not? Even if the EUA 

22 wasn't followed, as far as obtaining presidential waiver? 
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1 TC: The government's position is no, Your Honor, that it 

2 wouldn't. 

3 

4 

MJ: That's what I want to hear about from the government now. 

And then the second question I want you address - again, 

5 defense, I'll allow you to address this as well - is, when the 

6 accused testified, he made a comment that I think warrants further 

7 clarification from both sides, which is - I think, in relation to his 

8 concern about the efficacy of masks. Along the lines that there was 

9 no flu, there was only COVID. And the question, I suppose, that 

10 immediately brought to my mind is, is that because everyone was 

11 wearing masks, and keeping socially distant? Meaning that the masks 

12 were, in fact, 'doing what they were supposed to do, which is - was it 

13 with the absence of transmission of an otherwise infectious disease, 

14 in fact, being prevented by the process the accused himself testified 

15 as being his observation? 

16 If that is what occurred, what, if any, significance should 

17 the court place on that, if this process was, in fact preventing 

18 people becoming ill from the flu, or otherwise preventing the spread 

19 of infectious disease, despite it being, perhaps, inconsistently 

20 applied by gate guards? Again, I don't think that guard is 

21 indicative of Army policy; it may just be exactly what it sounds like 

22 - which is a gate guard not understanding a policy, or not enforcing 

23 a policy. That's not really at issue, as far as the court is 
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1 concerned. It is anecdotal as to why - we don't know why the gate 

2 guard did what he did, or she did. 

3 But the impact that it had in the mind of the accused, on 

4 the absence of the flu, is significant unto itself, as that was his 

5 observation, and his testimony. 

6 What does that mean as to the efficacy of masks, if 

7 anything, or of these orders, or of these policies and processes? 

8 

9 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: I pose to you two separate questions, but I'd like you to 

10 try to address them in order, and then defense, I'll certainly give 

11 you any additional time you wish. 

12 TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

13 So, addressing whether or not the EUA, if it does require 

14 informed consent, it would require presidential waiver, what would be 

15 the impact of that? The government's position is it would still -

16 these orders would still be lawful, Your Honor. 

17 Again, the government contends that the masks that he was 

18 being - the face covering that he was being asked to wear was not an 

19 EUA product. So, in that regard, it would still be a lawful order to 

20 protect others with a mask. 

21 In regards to the testing, if there was informed consent 

22 required, it's the government's position that it was known FDA 

23 regular policy, or manufacturer policy, that when they provide a 
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1 testing kit or a drug, in that comes a statement that informs the 

2 person taking it of risks associated, and other materials that are 

3 inserted in that. And that that insert would then have contained 

4 that informed consent material, and he would've seen that. 

5 Again, here, the accused didn't even go get a test, Your 

6 Honor. So, the accused doesn't know whether or not that material was 

7 there, because he never showed up to actually get the test. He 

8 didn't arrive and see the box, and see that there was no material 

9 contained within, or anything in there that would inform him of any 

10 of the risks. He just simply did not go. So, to that end, I think 

11 it remains unchanged that he was ordered there, but he never took the 

12 test. 

13 MJ: I understand that, that's a separate aspect of this. The 

14 question is as to the underlying authority, for the purpose of being 

15 tested or wearing a face mask, that's what we're talking about -

16 whether arguably - the defense's argument - arguable failure to 

17 follow the requirements under 1107(a). Would that necessarily render 

18 a DoD policy, or instruction, or order concerning force protection, 

19 would that render that illegal? That's what the defense is arguing -

20 that this failure to comply with 1107 requirements has a downhill 

21 impact of rendering all follow-on orders, instructions, as 

22 fundamentally illegal. That's the question I'm trying to address. 

23 I'd ask you to try to focus on that question. 
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TC: Yes, Your Honor. 1 

2 The government's position is that that's a simple 

3 misreading of the statute. The statute says that the Secretary of 

4 Health and Human Services is the one who promulgates those 

5 conditions, and the Secretary, in that statement, does not 

6 affirmatively put that in there. So, the absence is the Secretary's 

7 choice of not including that informed consent in the EUA. 

8 If informed consent is being imputed on the EUA because the 

9 Secretary of Health and Human Services didn't say it, I think the 

10 question would have to be, then, is - what other conditions apply to 

11 EUAs now that we just have to think about and anticipate that the 

12 Secretary of Health and Human Services didn't put on EUAs, just 

13 because somebody argues that they should be a condition within an 

14 EUA. 

15 So, that would be the position of the government for that, 

16 Your Honor. 

17 For the efficacy of masks----

18 MJ: What about the executive order or presidential finding from 

19 1999, that was implementing 1107(a)? It says that all of this is 

20 really a management process, and says essentially - that's what the 

21 presidential executive order that implemented 1107 said. That was in 

22 the last paragraph - I'll review that. I'd like to know - what does 

23 that mean? That was what was justified for the anthrax cases. 
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1 TC: Yes, Your Honor. As the government reads that, that 

2 applies to 1107 itself; it doesn't include 1107(a) in that 

3 determination, and that's why we didn't provide the analysis, because 

4 though it applies to vaccines, the investigational drug component of 

5 10 USC 1107 is distinct from 10 USC 1107(a) in that regard. 

6 Speaking to efficacy of masks, Your Honor, it has been the 

7 government's position, since this case began, and since the incidents 

8 on 30 November 2021 began, that masks do reduce the transmission of 

9 COVID-19, and at a minimum, even if that is disputed by some, that 

10 was a decision made by the Department of Defense and the Army, and 

11 trickled down to local installations and policies, and local 

12 commanders, that masks do save lives, or protect the health of 

13 others. 

14 As to why the accused believes what he believes, the 

15 government doesn't have a position on what his basis for that 

16 personal belief as to why masks are not effective in combating COVID-

17 19, or why flu numbers were reduced during that time - why he doesn't 

18 believe masks may have helped or assisted in reducing those numbers, 

19 Your Honor. 

20 MJ: Defense, I asked a few questions in there. Would you like 

21 to address any of those? You may at this time. 

22 CDC: Your Honor, can we take a - I really need a comfort break, 

23 I guess that's what I'm looking for. 
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1 MJ: It is 1310. Counsel, if you'd like to have a brief lunch 

2 recess now, and then we can come back and formulate any arguments -

3 any final rebuttal argument, if you'd like, we can come back. What 

4 would be the preference? 

5 TC: I think the government would prefer a short comfort break, 

6 and then finish the 39(a), Your Honor. 

7 MJ: Why don't we take a 10-minute recess, and we'll reconvene 

8 at 1320. 

9 The court will be in a brief recess. 

10 [The court-martial recessed at 1311, 28 April 2022.] 

11 [The court-martial was called to order at 1322, 28 April 2022.] 

12 MJ: This court is again called to order. 

13 All parties who were present previously are again present, 

14 to include the accused and all counsel. 

15 Defense, I was giving you the opportunity to address some 

16 of the arguments presented by the government, if you would like to, 

17 at this time. 

18 CDC: Your Honor, I apologize, I'm going to bounce around a 

19 little bit, as I was scratching notes left and right. 

20 With regards to 1107 (a) (A) (1), whether or not it negates 

21 regulations, we believe it does. I'm going to refer to Appellate 

22 Exhibit VI-J, the reg that we provided as part of one of our motions, 

23 the DODI 6200.02, Application of the FDA Rules to Department of 
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1 Defense Force Health Protection Programs. And it updates a policy 

2 and assigns responsibility for compliance with Reference D, Sections 

3 1107, 1107(a) of Title 10. So, the DoD is basically saying, we 

4 follow that law, and it will be implemented per that instruction. 

5 Again, bouncing around a little bit, first of all, with 

6 regards to the flu, it is our understanding that the flu is 

7 transmitted via travel - maybe one explanation for it. We don't know 

8 scientifically why flu seemed to disappear, but there could be 

9 numerous reasons. But everybody was locked down, people weren't 

10 really moving around, they weren't interacting the way we all 

11 normally do, because of the lockdowns and the mandates. So, that's 

12 just potentially one explanation for the lack of the flu. 

13 The other one is, potentially, everybody was so hyper 

14 vigilant on COVID that - and the testing, testing - and if you get 

15 COVID, you have to quarantine. And you could potentially end up in 

16 the hospital, and everything COVID-related. There's also discussion 

17 out there that, related to the tests, there was false positives, and 

18 people could have had the flu, but tested positive for COVID. 

19 So, there's a lot of unknowns with regards to this, and it 

20 may take years before that is all determined, based on science and 

21 statistics, and various investigations. 
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1 So, it's just too difficult to say, or even draw the 

2 conclusions that masks created some sort of protection preventing the 

3 flu. 

4 Obviously, with a lot of the literature that's coming out, 

5 and statements being made by the FDA as well, or the CDC, that the 

6 masks did not really have the intended impact or effect that they 

7 were expecting them to have. 

8 We would agree. Certainly, if you're coughing and 

9 sneezing, the standard protocol was put your arm in front of your 

10 face, and cough or sneeze into our elbow, because you're trying to 

11 prevent the spread of airborne elements. Obviously, the ones big 

12 enough to be caught in your arm or your elbow, not microscopic ones 

13 that nobody can see. 

14 I can put my client back on the stand to discuss this, but 

15 it is based on the FDA website, and this was part of the research 

16 that he did in looking at the - I'm going to mess up the science or 

17 the terminology - sort of the micron-size of the virus, compared to 

18 the hole sizes in the masks. There was like a 6-time difference, so, 

19 the analogy that I've heard in the past was, wearing a mask to try 

20 and prevent the COVID was similar to, or analogous to, taking a 

21 handful of marbles and throwing them at a chain-link fence - it was 

22 just going right through. Because masks were designed to stop 

23 bacteria, not virus, because of the size of the different particles. 
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1 Bacteria is much larger, whereas, viruses are microscopic. Again, I 

2 could put my client back on the stand to discuss what he learned 

3 through the FDA and those sizes, which he does know off the top of 

4 his head. 

5 The government claims that, regardless of the EUA, the 

6 orders would still be lawful. What we would say is, in some regard, 

7 we would agree with that. If DoD, at some point, on their own, or a 

8 virus or health issue was unique to the DoD, and they decided, 'We 

9 are going to implement mask mandates because we think that's what's 

10 needed to protect the force, potentially, the DoD had the authority 

11 to do that. That would get into a whole other argument as to 

12 lawfulness regarding masks, and again, back to military function. 

13 But the fact that the masks were implemented, or 

14 designated, an EUA status, then puts the legal requirement in place 

15 under 1107 (a) (A) (i-ii), and 21 [USC] 360bbb, and subsequent law under 

16 that, that informed consent applies - absolutely applies. And 

17 therefore, because of that designation - as 6200 says - the DoD was 

18 required to follow that law, and provide soldiers informed consent 

19 about the potential harms and potential reactions, as well as 

20 potential benefits, and allow the soldier to decide, 'Okay, is that 

21 something that I'm willing to take a risk with with my body or not?' 

22 If there had been no EUA law, it may be a completely 

23 different story with the DoD saying, 'We're doing this for this 
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1 justification for force health protection, and we're requiring 

2 masks.' 

3 But with the EUA law in place, they have to follow the law. 

4 The DoD doesn't get to say, 'Well, this law applies to us, but that 

5 law doesn't.' And as I said, 6200 clearly says 1107(a) does apply. 

6 The government tried to make the argument that Lieutenant 

7 Bashaw did not show up to test, but he sat here and testified about 

8 the QuickVue, because he knew that's what he was going to be ordered, 

9 or what was being used by the military. So, he researched it, he 

10 looked at the box, he tried to discern what the potential harms were. 

11 That's part of his duty description - to look for health-related 

12 harms, and then address that in a risk assessment approach, and then 

13 put out messaging to let people know, 'Okay, here's the potential 

14 concerns with regards to A, Band C.' 

15 The stories that we're hearing with regards to EDA and 

16 informed consent - in many cases, nobody is being told. Lieutenant 

17 Bashaw, in fact, didn't see a product literature that was associated 

18 with the test ----

19 

20 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Sustained. 

21 Again, counsel, this is about the issue of the EUAs - it 

22 might well be a factual issue as far as what his knowledge was, but 

23 that would not impact, at this point, the issue of the lawfulness of 
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1 the underlying directives, whether or not the issue of providing him 

2 with access to the information, that would be a later analysis. 

3 Again, that would go to the issue of [inaud], which goes to the more 

4 general question of whether the orders themselves were legal. 

5 I'll sustain that objection with regard to - I know this is 

6 argument, but there's really no evidence before the court - I would 

7 suggest that that argument is not going anywhere. 

8 CDC: Yes, Your Honor. 

9 DoD policy is illegal because it conflicts directly with 

10 statutory rights of the individual, as stated under Article 

11 90 (c) (2) (A) (v). We did look at other EUA letters for masks and 

12 testing - especially with regards to testing - and generally, EUA 

13 letters don't address informed consent. Why? Because informed 

14 consent is part of the law. It is part of the requirement. Again, 

15 as I stated earlier, there's nowhere in the law that it says that the 

16 Health and Human Services Secretary has to then step back and say, 

17 'Okay, as part of my requirement now for this EUA designation, I also 

18 have to decide whether informed consent applies.' That doesn't 

19 exist, so the government is being very generous with their reading of 

20 the law, by believing that the HHS Secretary has to designate an 

21 emergency, designate a product as emergency use authorized, and then 

22 turn around and say, 'Oh, by the way, informed consent applies,' or, 

23 'Informed consent doesn't apply.' 
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1 TC: Objection, Your Honor, that's mischaracterization of the 

2 government's argument. 

3 MJ: I've heard the argument, counsel. I'll give it the weight 

4 it's due. 

5 CDC: I would reemphasize, Your Honor, that based on that, it is 

6 primarily a liability issue. EUA means the manufacturer has no 

7 liability, and those distributing, those implementing or providing, 

8 or mandating, have no liability. It falls upon the individual to be 

9 told, 'Here are your risks. Here is our right by law, because you're 

10 accepting those risks,' similar to somebody who signs up for 

11 experimental drugs and says, 'I am willing to be part of this 

12 experiment, and try these drugs. I believe it is to my benefit to do 

13 that, and one of those benefits is my own health and/or getting 

14 financial payment for it.' They make that decision, and everybody 

15 has to have the right to make that decision, unless, with regards to 

16 the military, the President says, 'In this case, because of national 

17 security, I'm designating this product, the informed consent portion, 

18 is waived for the military,' which did not happen. 

19 Finally, Your Honor, with regard to the masks in our recent 

20 brief session [sic], we were able to find a First Amendment argument 

21 - masks limit free communication; the cite to that is Texas v. 

22 Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, and it's an '89 case. 

23 MJ: What's the holding? 
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1 CDC: I didn't get to read the entire thing, but the excerpt that 

2 I did read was that forcing someone to wear a mask limits their 

3 ability to communicate, show their face and see other people, which 

4 was, in this case, considered a First Amendment violation of free 

5 speech. 

6 MJ: I don't know the context of the case, so, if you want to 

7 provide the court a copy of it, I'll be happy to review it. 

8 CDC: Thank you, Your Honor. 

9 MJ: Counsel, I have a few questions for both sides, before I 

10 make a determination on this issue. 

11 First, to the government - well, let me start with the 

12 defense actually, because it's your burden. Even assuming, for 

13 argument sake, that the guidance that came down from on high from the 

14 Secretary of Defense, Secretary of the Army, undersecretaries, failed 

15 to comply with the rules and regulations under the EUA statute, if 

16 that were the case, how does that impact the balance of the 

17 allegations in the specifications against your client, the accused in 

18 this particular case, as much of what the allegations are don't 

19 necessarily directly relate to the issue of the lawfulness of the 

20 EUA/COVID protocols, testing, mask wearing, at all; but more to do 

21 with whether he was present or not present at a place of duty, of 

22 failure to comply with instructions or orders as to where he should 

23 be, or how he should be - again, I'm just reading the actual 
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1 specifications right now. In particular, I'm making reference to 

2 Specification 2, not leaving, or Specification 3 - he had other 

3 obligations and duties to obey, including given options to work at 

4 home if he disagreed with the option of taking the test, and the 

5 exhibits you provided as part of the appellate record, as far as the 

6 motions you filed, it was clear that he was given, in writing, the 

7 opportunity to work from a remote location if he objected to the 

8 conditions that were being imposed on him, if he believed them to be 

9 unlawful, but that he could work in another location. Again, that 

10 would've directly addressed the issues, at least in some of the 

11 specifications. 

12 What is your position, even if you were to prevail on the 

13 issue of the DoD guidance being formulated improperly because of the 

14 FDA laws? How would that, in any way, impact the other aspects of 

15 the specifications against the accused? 

16 CDC: Your Honor, it sounds like 

17 MJ: I'm just wondering whether you think it has any direct 

18 impact on the balance of the charges 

19 CDC: Yes. 

20 MJ: because, again, I'm looking at what he's actually 

21 charged with doing, and he's not charged with violating, with any 

22 specificity, a DoD guidance or DoD regulation; he's charged violating 

23 specific instruction as to location, or where his duty place is. 
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1 Yes, one aspect of the facemask and/or testing, there's positional 

2 information contained in the specifications that, independent of the 

3 mask-wearing, or otherwise, would still potentially be legal. 

4 So, I'm asking you whether you believe that if the DoD 

5 guidance - again, all the various instructions that came down based 

6 on the CDC guidance, et cetera - even if that were not valid, does 

7 that impact the totality of the charges against the accused? 

8 CDC: It does, because the orders to - we're refuting the clarity 

9 of the orders to telework - but the orders to telework came directly 

10 as a result of not having taken a test that he believed he had a 

11 right to refuse. 

12 MJ: What is your position, defense, with regard to the 

13 Executive Order that was issued, I believe, on January 20 th of 2021 by 

14 our new President - it's actually one of the policies, where he 

15 affirmatively states in an Executive Order that wearing a facemask 

16 can promote the safety of the federal workforce. Again, he is doing 

17 this - at least from my review of this - in the role both as the 

18 Chief Executive for the civilian side, and as the Commander in Chief 

19 of the military. What, if anything, does that impact your viewpoint 

20 whether there's actually been now, essentially, a presidential 

21 finding on the relevance of mask wearing - and it's in the Executive 

22 Order itself. 
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1 CDC: Your Honor, I'm trying to remember exactly what that order 

2 pertained to. I believe the----

3 MJ: The Executive Order issued on the 20 th of January of 2021, 

4 on protecting the federal workforce, and requirement mask wear -

5 implemented on the 20 th of January 2021. 

6 CDC: Our understanding was that was not directed at the 

7 military; it was directed at the federal workforce, not including 

8 

9 MJ: The interpretation - again, I've reviewed the various 

10 attachments included, in the FRAGOs and various other things - there 

11 was a - it was upheld, other than as to the issue of the OSHA side of 

12 it - the civilian workforce was excused from much of it, but the 

13 military workforce was not. So, it does not appear it was. That's 

14 why I'm asking you for your input, and any argument you want to make, 

15 which is why I brought this to your attention earlier - that there 

16 is, in fact, a supplemental executive order on the issue of mask 

17 wearing, it was issued by the Commander in Chief in January of 2021, 

18 finding that the wearing of masks is a significant aspect of 

19 preventing COVID-19. 

20 CDC: One second, Your Honor. 

21 [The defense counsels conferred.] 

22 Your Honor, it didn't specifically state the military; as 

23 you stated, it says the federal workforce, and under 1107 (a) (A) (1), 
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1 it does say, "To members of the armed forces, the condition described 

2 in 564, designed to ensure that individuals are informed, may be 

3 waived only by the President, only if the President determines, in 

4 writing, that complying with such a requirement is not in the 

5 interest in national security." So, he didn't tie that to the 

6 interests of national security; he generally stated, in executive 

7 orders - typically, a mandate from the President to the DoD does not 

8 come through an Executive Order; it comes through an order from the 

Commander in Chief. In this regard 9 

10 MJ: Which would normally be transmitted through the Secretary 

11 of Defense. 

12 CDC: Correct. 

13 MJ: Which is what the policy was. It came from the Secretary 

14 of Defense. Again, there was implementation citing back to this 

15 executive order. 

16 I'm just asking for your input, and any argument you want 

17 to make, on whether the Secretary of Defense, as the civilian 

18 representative of the President, in the role of Commander in Chief, 

19 directs the military, based on an executive order issued by the 

20 Commander in Chief - this is the implementation to take. Is that not 

21 something that the court should take notice of? 

22 CDC: I would say no, Your Honor, because that executive order -

23 our interpretation of it was that was an executive order for the 
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1 federal workforce. I may be misquoting the citing - 21 USC 360bbb, 

2 at some point, I believe it is that citation, states that the 

3 Secretary of Defense can ask the President to institute a waiver. He 

4 has that authority to ask for that. He can't do it himself, and as I 

5 just read in 1107 (a) (A) (1), the President has to make a determination 

6 based on national security. 

7 In our opinion, it's a stretch to say he implemented an 

8 executive order to the federal workforce for their protection, and 

9 that was the same or similar to, or met the criteria, under 

10 110 7 (a) (A) ( 1) . 

11 

12 

MJ: Let me interrupt you, counsel. 

I'm looking at the executive order. I'm looking at Section 

13 VII of the Executive Order issued on the 20 th of January 2021, and it 

14 says, "Scope-Federal employees means employees, including members of 

15 the armed forces, and members of the National guard and federal 

16 service." It's what it says, right in the Executive Order. 

17 Again, my question to you is that there's an Executive 

18 Order that identifies, on its face, that it covers the military; and 

19 Section VII-Scope says exactly that under subparagraph one, does that 

20 not constitute an instruction from the Commander in Chief, as issued 

21 through the Secretary of Defense, the normal chain of command, that 

22 this is, in fact, applicable to the military? Again, if you want to 

23 see a copy of it, I will be glad to have it marked as the next 
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1 

2 

appellate exhibit. I provided at least a reference to it earlier 

during our 802, and asked you all to review that. Paragraph seven on 

3 the last page. Again, this is the Executive Order - it's been in 

4 existence for, now, well over a year, governing mask wear. Not about 

5 testing, but about mask wear. 

6 Again, mask wear is also addressed in President Trump's 

7 findings - we've argued that. I want you to look at this, and then I 

8 want to hear any supplemental argument. This is limited to the issue 

9 of mask wearing; it does not address testing. It does talk about 

10 vaccines, but that's because of the now authorization of vaccines, 

11 but that's not what we're here for today either. 

12 [AE XVI was marked.] 

13 Counsel, I'm going to provide this to you. I'll ask you, 

14 at our next recess, to make copies, so I can have a copy as well. 

15 Why don't you take a moment and review it - it's the last page, 

16 subparagraph seven. You can approach. 

17 Again, anything you want to add to the issue of the 

18 executive order? Where it says "Scope." 

19 [The parties reviewed AE XVI~] 

20 You can get a copy of that at whitehouse.gov, by the way. 

21 It is referenced in your motions, as part of the attachments - when 

22 they talk about the annexes on one of the appellate exhibits that was 

23 previously put before the court with regard to the FRAGOs. 
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1 particular, this is a referenced annex in the documents that you 

2 provided. 

3 Counsel, why don't we do this? Is there any additional 

4 argument you want to make at this time? I want everyone to have a 

5 chance to have some lunch. I'll leave it to the government to make 

6 copies for both the defense, and to return a copy to me of that 

7 document. 

8 Is there any other major argument you want to make, other 

9 than about the issue of the - potential issue, or impact, of the 

10 Executive Order? 

11 CDC: Just related to that, Your Honor. 

12 MJ: Government, is that satisfactory, or do you want to have 

13 any additional argument in regard to anything the defense did in 

14 their rebuttal argument to this point? 

15 

16 

TC: Nothing further from the government, Your Honor. 

MJ: Why don't we do this? Why don't we have a lunch recess? 

17 You all review this executive order, and then we will have any last 

18 arguments on that issue, and then I can issue a finding as to the 

19 issue of legality of the order, and we'll move on from there as 

20 appropriate. 

21 The question now is time - how much time do you need? I 

22 don't know what's available for you all for lunch, but I want to make 

23 sure the court reporter has lunch, the bailiff, any support staff who 

91 



1 are here have time to eat, and the accused has a chance to have a 

2 meal as well. 

3 How much time do you need to do the copying, and to go get 

4 a meal, and come back, so we can continue to work? 

5 TC: The government doesn't need any more than 30 minutes, Your 

6 Honor. 

7 

8 

9 

MJ: That's not realistic. 

CDC: I would say an hour. 

MJ: I appreciate the effort. I'm going to allow them a 

10 reasonable amount of time to eat and do everything else. 

11 Counsel, I have it at 1354. We're going to reconvene at 

12 1500, so an hour and 5 minutes from now. We'll be in recess until 

13 then. 

14 With your permission, defense, government, please provide 

15 me a copy of the Executive Order - would that be satisfactory to just 

16 drop a copy off in my chambers? Appellate Exhibit XVI. 

17 Thank you. 

18 [The court-martial recessed at 1355, 28 April 2022.] 

19 [The court-martial was called to order at 1504, 28 April 2022.] 

20 MJ: This 39(a) session is called back to order. 

21 All parties who were previously present, to include the 

22 accused, are again present. 

23 Good afternoon, everyone. I hope you had a pleasant lunch. 
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1 Counsel, where we were was an opportunity to address any 

2 last-minute arguments concerning matters of the Executive Order, or 

3 any other matters you'd like the court to consider, in making a 

4 determination as to the lawfulness of the orders. 

5 Defense? 

6 CDC: Thank you, Judge, for that break. It was well-needed. 

7 Your Honor, in looking at the Executive Order, what we were 

8 able to discern is the President mandated masks for the federal 

9 workforce which, under the "Scope," as you pointed out, includes 

10 military members. 

11 But what he didn't do was he did not waive the EUA. He did 

12 not waive informed consent. 

13 Section II of the Executive Order specifically says, 

14 "Immediate action regarding federal employees, contractors, buildings 

15 and lands," which, again, includes military members, "The heads of 

16 executive departments and agencies shall immediately take action as 

17 appropriate and consistent with applicable law to require 

18 compliance," and then it goes on. 

19 Even down further in Section II(e), "Agencies shall review 

20 their existing authorities, to the extent permitted by law." 

21 Clearly, the author of the executive order understood that 

22 the President could set rules and regulations, or guidance, to the 

23 workforce, under his authority, to help with the management of the 
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1 workforce. But that has to be within applicable law, which goes back 

2 to 1107(a) and informed consent. 

3 Also, applying the executive order to the federal workforce 

4 is one thing. Similar to an employer - let's say, Walmart - who 

5 decides, for health reasons, 'We're implementing a mask mandate; if 

6 you don't like it, you can quit.' Unfortunately, military members 

7 can't just quit, so a mandate against a military member has a -

8 military members, I guess, I'd call them a captive audience. A 

9 mandate has a greater requirement, or a greater risk, since they 

10 can't just quit due to the fact that they're in the military, and 

11 they can't sue, because of the Feres doctrine. So, they don't have 

12 the options that a civilian would have, who decides, 'Well, you're 

13 not allowing me to continue to work here, and refuse this EUA, 

14 therefore, I'm just going to quit and move on with my life.' 

15 Again, we keep going back to 1107(a) (A), "The President 

16 must make a specific finding for waiving informed consent, and tie it 

17 to national security." 

18 Similarly, if you look at 1107, it says, "The Secretary of 

19 Defense can request a waiver," and that refers to drugs or vaccines; 

20 whereas, 1107(a) refers to products and EUA products. 

21 The Secretary of Defense can make the request to the 

22 President, but the President has to officially designate that. 
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1 Our quick review of the Federal Registry - obviously, it 

2 was not extensive - but we didn't find anywhere that there's a waiver 

3 for the military, by the President, with regards to masks - just this 

4 Executive Order, and the fact that it says that it must comply with 

5 applicable law. 

6 Thank you, Your Honor. 

7 

8 

MJ: Government? 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

9 Your Honor, briefly, the government just wants to reiterate 

10 its position that it believes that the face coverings that Captain 

11 McCarthy was ordering, as contained within his order - he was not 

12 ordering the accused to wear an EUA mask, or a mask that would fall 

13 under EUA. That's our basis on the mask. 

14 We reiterate our position on 10 USC 1107(a) and its 

15 application that when the Secretary of Health and Human Services 

16 issued the EUA for the testing - the QuickVue test, and associated 

17 COVID-19 tests- intentionally did not include informed consent. So, 

18 informed consent isn't even applicable in this situation, under that 

19 analysis, because the Secretary of Health and Human Services did not 

20 require it, so no presidential waiver was required. 

21 Briefly, just because it was mentioned very quickly before 

22 we went out on break, defense had raised a First Amendment issue 

23 about masks, and the accused's ability to express his First Amendment 
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1 - the government just wants to put its position that it opposes that 

2 belief that his First Amendments rights were restricted. Even if 

3 they were partially restricted, it is well-held within the military 

4 and the U.S. Army that your rights, even First Amendment, can be 

5 restricted lawfully. For example, you can't disparage the President 

6 of the United States when you're in uniform - as a very simple 

7 

8 

9 

example, Your Honor. That's the government's position. 

Thank you. 

MJ: Counsel, what I'm going to do is I'm going to need a few 

10 minutes to make some essential findings of fact, and to address some 

11 of these issues. I realize that we've had a lot of stop and go, but 

12 that's the nature of the beast today. 

13 What I'd like to do is - again, we're going to have a 

14 recess, so I can go and put this all together, and issue an 

15 appropriate ruling, considering all of the arguments from both the 

16 government and the defense, applying all of the appropriate criteria, 

17 and the citations and various laws that you've all been citing. 

18 What I'd suggest we do is - this is going to be a somewhat 

19 lengthy process, given just the volume of statutes that have to be, 

20 at least, accounted for, fairly, from both sides. I'd suggest that 

21 we plan on reconvening in approximately 45 minutes, so I can then 

22 have all of that completed. 

23 Would that be satisfactory? 

96 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

you 

TC: 

CDC: 

able 

MJ: 

Yes, Your Honor. 

Yes, Your Honor. 

I failed to address 

to get a copy of that 

I did not, I was not 

6 access to a printer. 

( 

the First Amendment argument, 

case law? 

provided a copy. I did not 

7 CDC: We have a copy we can provide, Your Honor. 

MJ: Is there any objection? 

TC: No, Your Honor. 

but were 

have 

8 

9 

10 MJ: So that the record is very clear, I'll take this copy - we 

11 do need a copy provided and marked as an appropriate appellate 

12 exhibit, so that there's a record of that case being reviewed. 

13 [The case cited was marked AE XVII.] 

14 TC: For the record, that case is Texas v. Johnson, the citation 

15 is 4 91 U . S . 3 9 7 . 

16 MJ: Thank you very much, counsel. 

17 We'll be in recess. 

18 [The court-martial recessed at 1515, 28 April 2022.] 

19 [The court-martial was called to order at 1604, 28 April 2022. 

20 MJ: This 39(a) session is again called back to order. 

21 All parties are again present, to include the accused. 

22 I'm getting some assistance, so the record is clear - I 

23 don't have a power source up at the bench. 
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1 Counsel, what I'd like to do is I've tried to address all 

2 of the points that have been presented by both the government and 

3 defense as to the underlying instructions that came down from the 

4 Department of Defense, based on the EUAs from the FDA, as well as 

5 taking into account the interpretations contained in the instructions 

6 that came from the Department of Defense, Secretary of Defense, 

7 Department of the Army, and the executive orders, and put that into a 

8 context. Let me try to put that as clearly as I can, by way of some 

9 background, and some highlights, as I understand the various relevant 

10 statutes. 

11 First, on January 31 st of 2020, HHS - which is Health and 

12 Human Services, from the United States government - issued an initial 

13 declaration of a public health emergency related to the COVID-19 

14 virus. That declaration has subsequently been renewed, most 

15 recently, I believe, in March of last year. 

16 On March 13 th of 2020, then-President Trump declared a 

17 national emergency in response to COVID-19. 

18 On February 24 th of 2021 - I misspoke - in February of 2021, 

19 there was the presidential declaration continuing the national 

20 emergency concerning COVID beyond March of 2021. 

21 That sets the background of what was happening in the world 

22 at that time. There've been these declarations of emergency, and a 
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1 national emergency declared by the Commander in Chief of the United 

2 States. 

3 That brings us to the issue of Title 21, Section 360bbb-3, 

4 which concerns the issue of authorization for medical products 

5 through use in emergencies - this is the EUA statute that we have 

6 been discussing. Under those sections - I'm not going to review 

7 every aspect of the entire legislation, but there are, under 

8 subsection "e," conditions of authorization for unapproved products. 

9 And then it outlines various conditions for the approval of 

10 "emergency use of an unapproved product." It holds and states that 

11 the Secretary of HHS, to the extent practicable, given the applicable 

12 circumstances described, shall, for a person who carries out any 

13 activity for which the authorization is issued, establishes such 

14 conditions on an authorization under this section, as the Secretary 

15 finds necessary or appropriate to protect the public health. And 

16 then there's a list of what the Secretary may include. 

17 Appropriate conditions designed to ensure that healthcare 

18 professionals administering the product are informed that the 

19 Secretary has authorized emergency use of the product - that's one 

20 example. That would also include a list of any significant known and 

21 potential benefits and risks of the emergency use of the product, and 

22 of the extent to which such benefits and risks are either known 
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1 and/or unknown, and of any alternatives to the product that are 

2 available, and their benefits and risks. 

3 It then goes into the next section talking about 

4 'appropriate conditions designed to ensure that individuals to whom 

5 the product is administered are informed.' Again, this is a "may." 

6 "That the Secretary authorized the emergency use of the product of 

7 any significant known or potential benefits and risks of such use, 

8 and of the extent to which such benefits and risks are unknown, and 

9 of the option to accept or refuse administration of the product; of 

10 the consequences, if any, of refusing administration of the product; 

11 and of the alternative to the product available, and of their 

12 benefits and risks." 

13 If you then continue through that statute, you come to 

14 section "j," which is "Rules of Construction." The following applies 

15 with respect to this section - again, that which I just read to you 

16 all. 

17 Under the rules of construction, "Nothing in this section 

18 impairs the authority of the President, as Commander in Chief of the 

19 Armed Forces of the United States under Article II, Section II, of 

20 the United States Constitution," and then the second point is, 

21 "Nothing in this section impairs the authority of the Secretary of 

22 Defense, with respect to the Department of Defense, including the 

23 armed forces under other provisions of federal law." 
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1 We then go to Title 10, Section 1107(a), "Emergency Use 

2 Products," and there's a section under subsection "a" called "Waiver 

3 by the President," Section 1. "In the case of the administration of 

4 a product authorized for emergency use, under Section 564 of the 

5 Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, the members of the armed forces, 

6 the conditions described in Section 564 (e) (1) (A) (ii), and then (III), 

7 of such Act, and required under paragraph la or 2a of such section of 

8 564(e)," and that's designed to ensure that individuals are informed 

9 of an option to accept or refuse administration of the product; and 

10 then it indicates it may be waived only by the President, only if the 

11 President determines, in writing, that complying with such 

12 requirement is not in the interest of national security. 

13 Then it has a subsection two, "The waiver authority 

14 provided in paragraph one," which I just read, "shall not be 

15 construed to apply to any case, other than a case in which an 

16 individual is required to be informed of an option to accept or 

17 refuse administration of a particular product by reason of a 

18 determination by the Secretary of Health and Human Services." 

19 What does this all mean? 

20 For emergency use of unapproved products, which is, again, 

21 where we are talking about this issue of EUA products, "The Secretary 

22 of Health and Human Services must establish conditions for approval 

23 that he or she finds necessary or appropriate to protect the public 
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1 health, to include appropriate conditions designed to ensure that 

2 individuals to whom the product is administered, are informed of the 

3 option to accept or refuse administration of the product; of the 

4 consequences, if any, of refusing administration of the product; and 

5 of the alternatives to the product that are available and their 

6 benefits and risks.n 

7 Stated another way, the Secretary of HHS has the ability to 

8 require informed consent before administration of a drug under an 

9 EUA; that would've been the case, and that is, in fact, the case with 

10 regard to the COVID vaccine - they, in fact, provide for that. The 

11 Secretary granted approval to the current COVID EUA upon the 

12 condition that the vaccine remained voluntary, and the DoD has been 

13 abiding by that condition. 

14 But that is limited to the issue of the COVID vaccine; that 

15 does not indicate, nor is it contained in the EUA, as to the issue of 

16 masks or testing. That was not a requirement contained therein. 

17 Then, if you look at, again, 1107(a), at the request of the 

18 Secretary of Defense, the Commander in Chief then has the authority 

19 to waive the Secretary's voluntary condition, and then require 

20 service members to accept the unapproved emergency use vaccine. It 

21 is in that type of case - and in such cases only - that the President 

22 must determine that complying with the informed consent requirement 

23 would not be interest of national security. 
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1 I believe the government's argument is, in fact, correct 

2 when you actually read the statute, and go through the various 

3 qualifications, the Secretary of Health and Human Services has an 

4 inherent authority to put conditions upon the EUA-type product; that 

5 condition, as to informed consent, was, in fact, put on the issue of 

6 COVID vaccines. It was not - where the court could find any 

7 information - it was not provided for, or required, with regard to 

8 other aspects, such as face masks or testing materials - testing 

9 devices or products. I think the proper term is "product." Again, 

10 there was no suggestion that there was any requirement for the 

11 informed consent, implied or put into place, by the Secretary with 

12 regard to those two issues. 

13 I then reviewed DoD Instruction 6205.2, which the defense 

14 pointed out. I would suggest, quite strongly, that the 

15 interpretation of the ability of the Secretary of Health and Human 

16 Services to have discretion as to what requires, or does not require, 

17 informed consent, is in no way contradicted by the language in the 

18 DoD Instruction. What the DoD Instruction provides for is, 

19 essentially, an establishment of the DoD immunization program. The 

20 policy generally directs combatant commands, military departments, to 

21 identify and define what is called the 'mandatory immunization 

22 requirements for service members.' There is, in fact, a joint 

23 regulation that governs that, and it covers specific requirements for 
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1 service members, as well as service-specific procedures for 

2 administering such requirements, including documentation. 

3 In general, the DoD vaccination requirements followed the 

4 recommendations through the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and 

5 Prevention, which is the CDC, as well as an advisory committee on 

6 immunization best practices. 

7 It is noted that the background of why the DoD administers 

8 the variety of force health protection measures, also called FHP, is 

9 primarily to promote, protect, improve, conserve and restore the 

10 health and wellbeing of the service members. These measures include 

11 health promotion, education, periodic health assessments, 

12 preventative therapy, medical countermeasures, and vaccinations. 

13 By way of historical comment, I would note that, in 1777, 

14 General George Washington directed the inoculation of the Continental 

15 Army to protect personnel against smallpox that, at that time, was 

16 running rampant. Since then, 250-plus years later, the Department of 

17 Defense has continued to implement a variety of enduring and 

18 situational health protection measures to protect service members 

19 from health threats. I would note this is exactly what the accused 

20 is, in part, responsible for doing. This is part of the 

21 responsibility of the Department of Defense - to ensure the health 

22 and wellbeing of the service members. That has included requiring 

23 certain vaccines for service members, while others may only be 
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1 required for those who deploy to particular locations, or facing 

2 certain kinds of anticipated threats. That would be more as to the 

3 issue of the anthrax threat back in the 1990s. 

4 Other vaccines, again, may be provided to service members, 

5 either on a voluntary or involuntary basis. 

6 I would also note that the January 20, 2021 Executive Order 

7 that we've made reference to concerning mask wear - again, I believe 

8 it governs - it states on its face that it governs military 

9 personnel. I believe that this regulation - this Executive Order -

10 reinforces the court's conclusion that the various DoD instructions 

11 concerning mask wear and COVID-19 testing are lawful, and that 

12 appropriate orders to comply with their dictates would also be 

13 lawful. 

14 Military orders, again, are presumed to be lawful. The 

15 essential attributes of a lawful order include: 

16 Issuance by a competent authority; 

17 Words that express a specific mandate; and 

18 A nexus to military duty. This has really been the real 

19 issue that you've been raising - the nexus to military duty. 

20 The military has a compelling interest in ensuring the 

21 health of the force. As a result, the military frequently curtails 

22 the personal liberty, and physical privacy, of service members, with 

23 the goal of ensuring good order and discipline. Orders to take 
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1 vaccine, with severe documented side effects, have been found in the 

2 past to be lawful, and the mandated inoculation of such vaccinations 

3 has been upheld by the Supreme Court. I would note that in Jacobson 

4 v. Massachusetts, 197 U.S. 11 from 1905 - going back almost 120 years 

5 ago - that has been an established state of the law in the United 

6 States. 

7 In Jacobsen, the defendant was offered the issue of a 

8 smallpox vaccine which, at the time, was again running rampant. That 

9 vaccination was known to quite often cause serious and permanent 

10 injury, and occasionally death, in those who received the vaccine. 

11 The court found those offers of proof to be established 

12 and, again, upon review, affirmed that the military has a function to 

13 care for health and public safety, and those can be ordered to be 

14 vaccination - this goes both to the public and the military - when 

15 endangered by epidemics of disease. 

16 The issue there, again, was more of a civilian evaluation, 

17 but the legislative determination, or a statutory determination, of 

18 the need is a balancing test. Again, the legislative determination 

19 of the need for that has been approved, even when the consequence of 

20 taking mandated vaccine has been quite likely to be very, very 

21 serious and negative to the people taking it. 

22 If you then look at 10 USC Section 890 - the MCM is Part 

23 IV, paragraph 16 (c) (2) (iv), is the issue of assessing or testing the 
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1 lawfulness of an order under Article 92 of the Uniform Code of 

2 Military Justice. It is clear from the guidance within the MCM that 

3 the order must relate to a military duty, which includes all 

4 activities reasonably necessary to accomplish a military mission, or 

5 safeguard or promote the morale, discipline and usefulness of a 

6 member of a command, and directly connected with the maintenance of 

7 good order in the service. 

8 The order may not, if it's a valid military purpose, 

9 interfere with private rights or personal affairs; however, the 

10 dictates of a person's conscience, religion or personal philosophy 

11 cannot justify or excuse the disobedience to an otherwise lawful 

12 order. 

13 Fundamental to an effective armed force is the obligation 

14 of obedience to lawful orders. Reflecting the authority of this 

15 principle, an order is presumed to be lawful, and the subordinate 

16 disobeys an order at his own peril. However, a service member may 

17 always challenge the lawfulness of an order in the tribunal of a 

18 court-martial - that may, of course, always occur. 

19 But what's critical in the assessment, at least initially, 

20 as to the lawfulness of an order is that the lawful order must 

21 include issuance by a competent authority - that means a person 

22 authorized by applicable law or authority to give such an order; it 

23 must be communicated in words that express a specific mandate to do 
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1 or not do a specific act; and it must have a nexus or relationship to 

2 a military duty, and that would be in United States v. Deisherr 61 

3 M. J. 313 , CAAF 2 0 0 5 . 

4 Again, because orders are presumed to be lawful, the 

5 accused bears the burden of demonstrating otherwise. United States 

6 v. New at 55 M.J. at 106; additional citations at United States v. 

7 Hughley, 46 M.J. 152 at page 154 from CAAF 1997. 

8 Again, as for the issue of safeguarding - and what would be 

9 considered an appropriate relationship to military duty - a military 

10 duty includes all activities reasonably necessary to accomplish a 

11 military mission, safeguard or promote morale, discipline and 

12 usefulness of a member of the command - and again, as I noted a 

13 moment ago - be related to or connected to good order and discipline. 

14 It may not, without such a military purpose, interfere with private 

15 rights. 

16 I would note the following. What is clear from these 

17 directives from DoD and from the President, and from the findings 

18 within the states of emergency by the Commanders in Chief, from both 

19 President Trump and President Biden, is that the ability to have a 

20 healthy, deployable and safe military force is of paramount 

21 importanc$. 

22 I would point out - I was looking at the case law that had 

23 been presented to the court by both the defense and the government -
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1 in Austin v. Navy Seals, or Navy Seals v. Austin, recently came out 

2 from the Supreme Court, and it talks about the significance of having 

3 a healthy force that does not - because of the risk of highly 

4 contagious disease, does not put at risk mission accomplishment, the 

5 ability of the individuals who are highly trained and necessary for 

6 our military, and for our national defense, to do their mission when 

7 they are instructed to do so. That does, in fact, require the 

8 ability to interact with each other in close quarters; to be 

9 potentially - at least in the real world - subject to being exposed 

10 to highly contagious diseases that could lead to mission failure if 

11 they were not able to perform, could lead to death. 

12 I would note also - again, this is more from the court's 

13 knowledge of recent reports of history, of what's occurred in the 

14 last 2 years, and I will take notice of it - there was a United 

15 States aircraft carrier when the outbreak of COVID initially started. 

16 It was in the Pacific, and it ended up with several hundred people -

17 if not, the vast majority of the entire crew of an aircraft carrier -

18 coming down with COVID. As a result, that ship was no longer a 

19 deployable military asset, and one of the most powerful warships in 

20 our nation, and the ability to project power overseas, was 

21 essentially decommissioned for an extensive period of time, due to 

22 the consequence of COVID not being controlled. 
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1 Clearly, there is an interest in the United States military 

2 to have a force that is able to continue in its mission, in the face 

3 of what has turned out to be a worldwide pandemic of significant 

4 impact, and of great consequence to the ability of those who are in 

5 the military - and to the civilians who are subject to interacting 

6 with those members of the military as well. 

7 I also note the following -

8 It is apparent to the court that the accused has given 

9 careful consideration to the legality of the orders at issue. I 

10 believe he has formed sincere, deeply-held views about the legal 

11 basis for the order to wear a mask, or to be tested. 

12 I would note, however, that Congress has provided him with 

13 a variety of means to communicate his views to his superiors, and to 

14 national policymakers. He may challenge policy through a complaint 

15 under Article 138, which I know from the pleadings previously 

16 provided, he has, in fact, exercised. He can raise his concerns to 

17 the Inspector General. Again, I know from the pleadings that he has, 

18 in fact, exercised that right as well. And he may communicate 

19 directly with members of congress - again, I don't know if he's done 

20 that or not, but that's obviously an option as well. He may do all 

21 of the above without interference from his military superiors, and 

22 with protection against reprisal. 
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1 Again, from the motions that I have received - they're in 

2 the appellate record at this point as exhibits - the accused has, in 

3 fact, exercised many of those rights. 

4 Not being satisfied with the results, however, is not a 

5 justification for disobedience. 

6 The United States Supreme Court in Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 

7 733 from 1974, stated that "The military is, by necessity, a 

8 specialized society. Accordingly, the fundamental necessity for 

9 obedience, and the consequent necessity for imposition of discipline, 

10 may render permissible within the military that which would be 

11 constitutionally impermissible outside of it." For that reason, the 

12 appellate courts have upheld as lawful orders restricting a service 

13 member's personal hygiene, consumption of alcohol, driving 

14 privileges, financial transactions, types of sexual relationships, 

15 issues concerning relationships between seniors and subordinates. 

16 Those military orders have been found permissible, even when they 

17 intrude upon an individual service member's physical privacy, such as 

18 orders to submit to blood testing, and providing urine samples. It 

19 has been upheld that orders restricting sexual or romantic activity 

20 are permissible. 

21 In United States v. Chadwell, which was then reported at 36 

22 CMR 741, from the Navy Board of Review in 1965, "Military courts have 

23 upheld orders to service members to receive vaccinations, even over 
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1 religious objection." The finding was - and was noted with approval, 

2 "That type of order was justifiable because the military, as a 

3 society at large, has a compelling interest in having those who 

4 defend the nation remain healthy, and capable of performing their 

5 duty." That would be taken from Womack, citing National Treasury 

6 Employees Union v. Vaughn, 489 U.S. 656 from 1989. 

7 Additionally, citing again to the Supreme Court - excuse me 

8 - citing to the Navy Review Board in Chadwell, "Whatever medical 

9 knowledge which is common to all civilized people, we must conclude, 

10 on the basis of common knowledge, that an order to take immunization 

11 shots is legal and necessary in order to protect the health and 

12 welfare of the military community, and failure would represent a 

13 substantial threat to public health, and the safety in the military. 

14 This conclusion is inescapable when it is considered, and taken at 

15 the departmental level, and it applies to all military personnel." 

16 Undoubtedly, many service members would be reluctant to 

17 receive vaccines for disease, such as smallpox, where there is a 

18 potential for severe side effects, is well-documented. Nonetheless, 

19 the order was valid. 

20 Even in the civilian sector, the compulsory inoculation 

21 against deadly disease was upheld - again, see Jacobsen v. 

22 Massachusetts. 
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1 Where does that leave us, counsel? Where that leaves us is 

2 that the court is making a finding as to the legality of the DoD 

3 instructions, or various letters, or what I would call as 

4 instructions that came down that were then turned into the various 

5 mask-wearing and testing requirements, as articulated - I don't have 

6 the exhibit list in front of me right now, so I'm going to have to 

7 ask your indulgence as to the three exhibits that we're being asked 

8 to rule on. Counsel, could you please clarify that? I didn't bring 

9 them out with me. It was Exhibit - I don't want to misspeak - II-A, 

10 II-Band - one more? 

11 TC: Yes, Your Honor, that's Exhibit II-A, which is HQDA EXORD 

12 225 FRAGO 6; Appellate Exhibit II-B, which is Force Health Protection 

13 Guidance Supplement 23, Revision 2, Department of Defense Guidance 

14 for Coronavirus Disease, 2019 Vaccination Attestation, Screening, 

15 Testing and Vaccination Verification----

16 

17 

MJ: Then II-F? 

TC: And then - yes, [Appellate Exhibit] II-F, Aberdeen Proving 

18 Ground Installation for Face Covering Requirements, Your Honor. 

19 MJ: I had it as II-A, Band F - I didn't have the full listing 

20 of them. 

21 The court is making a finding that those instructions that 

22 were then for the basis for any further orders to the accused, were 

23 lawful. 
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1 What I am not doing, counsel, is making any determination 

2 that the orders, as applied - there may or may not be defenses that 

3 you wish to raise, or other issues before the court. But the 

4 underlying orders themselves, the court is finding to be lawful. You 

5 are, of course, free to present any challenges within that to how the 

6 order was issued, or whether it was clear, or whether or not, in a 

7 particular case, it was applicable to the accused. 

8 Again, the government still bears the burden of proving all 

9 of the elements of the offense. All the court is doing is making a 

10 finding that the underlying authorities for the order were lawful. 

11 Is that clear? 

12 

13 

14 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Very well. 

Are there any other matters with regard to pretrial 

15 litigation, or motions, that you wish to take up at this time? 

16 Government? 

17 

18 

TC: No, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense? 

19 CDC: Only if - Your Honor - and I need to confer with my client 

20 - but only if the court wants to hear other potential defenses which 

21 

22 

23 

MJ: If you choose to raise defenses in trial - by the way, I 

did review the issue of the First Amendment as well. 
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1 that there is a - although service members do have First Amendment 

2 rights, within reason, they can be legitimately restricted, based on 

3 the nature of the restriction and why. Again, the issue of mask-

4 wearing is not, from my reading of the purpose behind it, and what 

5 the justifications were, was done for medical wellbeing of the force, 

6 not, in any way, designed - even though it may have had a potential 

7 downstream impact as well - again, nothing that I have seen or heard 

8 by way of any evidence suggested that the accused, in any way, had 

9 any of his constitutional rights - freedom of expression - by way of 

10 his First Amendment rights, in any way, impacted. 

11 Again, although that could potentially have been an issue, 

12 I do not believe it's been presented to the court. To the extent 

13 that there are reasonable limitations or medical justification for 

14 the wearing of a mask, I would deny that as a defense as to being a 

15 defense of any First Amendment right or Due Process rights. 

16 Counsel, what I would suggest we do right now is we are now 

17 at that that point where it's at that point where it is time to enter 

18 pleas. 

19 What I'd like to do is have that taken care of. If you 

20 need to have a recess to talk to your client about any pleas he would 

21 like to do that, we can do that as well. 

22 Take a moment just to consult with yourselves, and then we 

23 can decide how to proceed from there. 
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1 [The accused and his counsel conferred.] 

2 CDC: Your Honor, we're ready to proceed. 

3 MJ: Very well. 

4 Defense counsel and the accused, Lieutenant Bashaw, would 

5 you please stand. 

6 [The accused and his counsel did as directed.] 

7 Defense counsel, would you please enter pleas on behalf of 

8 the accused. 

9 CDC: One moment, Your Honor, let me figure out where we are. 

10 MJ: Captain Jackson, what I would suggest, just make sure as to 

11 the form of the plea, would you consult with your other counsel? 

12 DC: Yes, Your Honor. 

13 [The accused and his counsel conferred.] 

14 Your Honor -

To Specification 1 of 
To Specification 2 of 
To Specification 3 of 
To The Charge: 

15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

MJ: Thank you very much. 

The Charge: 
The Charge: 
The Charge: 

22 [The accused and his counsel resumed their seats.] 

Not Guilty. 
Not Guilty. 
Not Guilty. 
Not Guilty. 

23 At this time, the Article 39(a) hearing will be terminated. 

24 We're now calling this court to order. Again, all parties 

25 are again present, to include the accused. 

26 Government, do you have an opening statement? 
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( 

1 Counsel, just so you can plan, I realize it's late, but we 

2 have a long day ahead of us. How many witnesses do you have? 

TC: The government has four witnesses, Your Honor. 3 

4 MJ: Counsel, my plan - it is now 1650. We're going to go for 

5 at least another hour, maybe 2, at this point tonight. We can have a 

recess, we can have dinner, however you want to approach it. But 6 

7 we're going to roll for a little while on this. It has taken a long 

8 time on these motions, but we have 2 days. 

9 Are your witnesses ready? 

10 

11 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Very well, call your first witness. 

12 ATC: Your Honor, with your permission, we'd like to do an 

13 opening statement. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

MJ: Very well. 

Counsel, can we keep this to about 5 minutes? 

ATC: Absolutely, Your Honor. 

Good afternoon, Your Honor. 

Today is all about choices. The evidence will show that 

19 Lieutenant Bashaw chose to violate three orders relating to COVID-19 

20 mitigation measures. These measures were designed to protect his 

21 fellow service members, as well as protect the Army's ability to 

22 carry out its mission. 
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1 Today, you will hear from Lieutenant Bashaw's commander, 

2 Captain Alexander McCarthy. Captain McCarthy will inform the court 

3 about how he, as Lieutenant Bashaw's commander, ordered Lieutenant 

4 Bashaw to provide proof of a negative COVID-19 test before being 

5 physically present at his place of duty on 30 November 2021; or 

6 alternatively, ordered Lieutenant Bashaw to report to the Staff Duty 

7 desk between 0730 and 0830 on 30 November to have a COVID-19 test 

8 administered. In fact, you will see emails between Captain McCarthy 

9 and Lieutenant Bashaw, in which Captain McCarthy clearly communicates 

10 the order. Still, Lieutenant Bashaw chose to defy. 

11 You will hear from Major Wei, who was the OIC of the Staff 

12 Duty on 30 November, and he will confirm that Lieutenant Bashaw did 

13 not report to the Staff Duty desk to have a COVID-19 test 

14 administered. 

15 In addition, you'll also see a COVID-19 testing log from 

16 that day, on which Lieutenant Bashaw's name is noticeably absent. 

17 You'll also hear from Captain McCarthy - my apologies, Your 

18 Honor. 

19 Instead of reporting to the Staff Duty desk, Lieutenant 

20 Bashaw chose to report to what had originally been his normal place 

21 of work. This will be confirmed by Lieutenant Bashaw's supervisor, 

22 Ms. Radavich, who will state that, one, she saw Lieutenant Bashaw 

23 inside her office on Aberdeen Proving Ground; and, two, at no point 
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1 did Lieutenant Bashaw ever provide her with any proof of a negative 

2 COVID-19 test. 

3 You will also hear from Captain McCarthy that when he found 

4 out Lieutenant Bashaw chose not to comply with either available 

5 option to comply with his order, Captain McCarthy then ordered 

6 Lieutenant Bashaw to leave Aberdeen Proving Ground, and work remotely 

7 until providing proof of a negative COVID test. Again, you'll hear 

8 that Lieutenant Bashaw chose to defy the order, and instead remain 

9 physically present on Aberdeen Proving Ground. 

10 Then, upon learning that Lieutenant Bashaw chose to defy 

11 the order and remain physically present, Captain McCarthy then 

12 ordered Lieutenant Bashaw to report to Captain McCarthy's office for 

13 a counseling. At that counseling, which was indoors, Lieutenant 

14 Bashaw reported without a face covering, and refused to put one on 

15 throughout the duration of the counseling. 

16 When Captain McCarthy saw that Lieutenant Bashaw was not 

17 wearing the mandated face covering, he asked him to put one on. 

18 Again, Lieutenant Bashaw chose not to comply. At that time, Captain 

19 McCarthy then ordered Lieutenant Bashaw to put on the face covering, 

20 and again, Lieutenant Bashaw still chose defiance. 

21 Simply put, you will hear that Lieutenant Bashaw had many 

22 options available to him to express his concern or frustration, and 

23 the consistent choice that he made was one of defiance. 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

Thank you, Your Honor. 

MJ: Thank you. 

Defense, do you wish to open or reserve? 

CDC: We would reserve, Your Honor. 

MJ: Very well. 

Government, call your first witness. 

TC: Your Honor, before the government calls its first witness, 

8 it's going to ask the court to take judicial notice of a few 

9 regulations, Your Honor. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

MJ: Did you provide those to opposing counsel? 

TC: They've been provided to opposing counsel, Your Honor. 

MJ: What are the regulations? 

TC: That will be Prosecution Exhibit 8 for identification, 

14 which is the Aberdeen Proving Ground Installation Policy for Face 

15 Coverings; Prosecution Exhibit 9 for identification, which will be 

16 the USA MEDCOM Op Order 21-53; Prosecution Exhibit 10 for 

17 identification, which is FRAGO 6 to HQDA EXORD 225-21; Prosecution 

18 Exhibit 11 for identification, which is - I'm sorry, I apologize, 

19 Your Honor, only to Prosecution Exhibit 10 for identification - just 

20 those three at this time. 

21 MJ: Defense, I'll hear from you; let's go through each one 

22 individually, counsel. What's the first one you wish to have the 

23 court take notice of? 
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1 TC: That would be Prosecution Exhibit 8 for identification, 

2 Your Honor; that would be the Aberdeen Proving Ground Installation 

3 Policy for Face Covering Requirements, the one you just ruled that 

4 was lawful. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

MJ: Defense, is there any objection? 

CDC: One moment, Your Honor. 

[After pause.] No objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: With regard to Prosecution Exhibit 8 for identification -

9 it consists of three pages. Is that correct, counsel? It is 

10 captioned Installation Policy for Face Covering Requirements, dated 4 

11 August 2021? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense, do you have a copy of that before you? 

CDC: We have, in our bag here. 

MJ: There being no objection, it will be admitted. 

Counsel, Prosecution Exhibit 8 has been admitted. 

TC: The next document, Your Honor, is Prosecution Exhibit 9 for 

18 identification; that was Operation Order 21-53, COVID-19 Steady State 

19 Operations, USA MEDCOM. 

20 MJ: Defense, this is an 11-page exhibit, captioned "Operation 

21 Order 21-53, COVID-19 Steady State Operations, US MEDCOM." It has -

22 I'm looking for a date - 17 September? 

23 TC: 7 September 2021, Your Honor. 
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1 MJ: 7 September of 2021. 

2 Again, defense, have you had an opportunity to review this, 

3 and is there any objection? 

4 CDC: Your Honor, if we could reserve our objection? This was 

5 the document that - in looking through all our files, we did not 

6 have, and were provided this morning. Due to the motions, we haven't 

7 had an opportunity to review 

8 MJ: Counsel, why don't we reserve, so they have an opportunity 

9 to look at it? You can make the motion tomorrow, after they've had a 

10 chance to review it. Would that be satisfactory? 

11 TC: The government contends we did turn over the document to 

12 defense very early on in discovery, Your Honor, but we're fine with 

13 waiting. It is Bates 17 of the totality of government exhibits that 

14 were turned over, but the government is fine with----

15 MJ: I understand what you're saying, but counsel has requested 

16 an opportunity to review it before responding to whether or not 

17 they're objecting. I'm going to give them that opportunity. 

18 So, we'll hold any determination as to Government 9 [for 

19 ID] at this time. 

20 TC: And then the final one for right now, for judicial notice 

21 Your Honor, is Prosecution Exhibit 10 for identification, and that 

22 was FRAGO 6, HQDA EXORD 225-21, the same document you just ruled was 

23 lawful, Your Honor. 
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1 MJ: And that is a 15-page document, and it appears that this is 

2 dated 7 October of '21, is that correct? 

3 

4 

TC: Correct, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense, do you have any objection to 

5 Prosecution [Exhibit] 10 [for ID]? 

6 CDC: We don't, Your Honor. 

7 MJ: Prosecution [Exhibit] 10 is admitted. 

8 Counsel, just make a notation for later on about 

9 Prosecution Exhibit 9 [for ID], so you can address it at a later 

10 point. 

11 TC: Yes, Your Honor. 

12 The government calls Captain Alexander McCarthy. 

13 CAPTAIN ALEXANDER MCCARTHY, U.S. Army, was called as a witness by the 

14 prosecution, was sworn and testified as follows: 

15 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

16 Questions by the trial counsel: 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Can you please state your name and rank for the record? 

Captain Alexander Philip McCarthy. 

What is your unit of assignment? 

I am the company commander for the HHC element of the Army 

21 Public Health Center. 

22 Q. What are your responsibilities as the commander for that 

23 unit? 
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1 A. I'm responsible for their daily health and welfare, their 

2 administrative and day-to-day needs, and whatever their soldier 

3 duties are. 

4 Q. 

5 A. 

6 Q. 

7 A. 

8 Q. 

9 A. 

10 Q. 

11 A. 

12 Q. 

13 A. 

14 Q. 

15 A. 

16 TC: 

17 witness.] 

18 Q. 

19 A. 

About how long have you been in this role? 

Since July 9, 2021. 

Do you know the accused in this case? 

Yes, I do. 

How do you know him? 

He was my predecessor in my position. 

When you say "predecessor,~ what do you mean by that? 

He was the company commander before myself. 

So, you relieved him from command, is that correct? 

Yes. 

When did you assume command from---­

On July 9, 2021. 

[Retrieved PE 3 for ID, showed to defense, handed to the 

Captain McCarthy, what is this? 

This is my assumption of command. 

20 Q. How do you know that's your assumption of - when you say 

21 "your assumption of command," what do you mean? 

22 A. There is my signature on here, my name, my unit 

23 identification code at the top. 
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1 Q. You said "this is my assumption of command," what do you 

2 mean? 

3 A. This is the assumption of command of my company that I 

4 signed, signifying of when I took over. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

Q. What type of document is this? 

A. A memorandum for record. 

Q. So, it's fair to say an assumption of command memorandum? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How do you know that that's your assumption of command? 

A. It has my name on it, and I digitally signed it. 

TC: Your Honor, the government moves to admit Prosecution 

12 Exhibit 3 for identification into evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 3. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

MJ: Defense? 

CDC: No objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Prosecution 3 is admitted. 

Q. Captain McCarthy, after you assumed command from the 

17 accused, what became his new role? 

18 A. He went to work as an entomologist in your Entomology 

19 Department. 

20 Q. Is the Entomology Department under - is that all under your 

21 responsibilities? 

22 

23 

A. 

Q. 

The soldiers do - yes, they do. 

So he was still under your command? 
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1 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

a. 

Yes, he was. 

Did you supervise his day-to-day responsibilities? 

His day-to-day responsibility was given to him from a 

4 civilian for the technical aspect, but for his soldierly duties, 

5 they'd still come from myself. 

6 Q. Who supervised his day-to-day responsibilities that didn't 

7 fall under the command? 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

Ms. Rosanne Radavich. 

Turning your attention to 30 November 2021, were you the 

10 company commander of the Army Public Health Center at that time? 

11 

12 

13 time? 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes, I was. 

Was the accused still one of your subordinates at that 

Yes, he was. 

In regards to COVID-19, was there anything notable going on 

16 in that particular space in time? 

17 A. During that timeframe, there was a pretty high level of 

18 transmission in our county, in our area, and right before then, the 

19 Army started a program where we had to screen unvaccinated 

20 individuals prior to them coming into the office, regardless of why 

21 they were unvaccinated. 

22 Q. How did the Army Public Health Center go about implementing 

23 this guidance for screening of unvaccinated soldiers? 
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1 A. Once we received the order, we were able to order over the 

2 counter test kits, so we could have them on hand at our headquarters 

3 building, and have them prepositioned, so that when an unvaccinated 

4 individual needed to come into the office, they could report to that 

5 building first thing in the morning to our Staff Duty desk; they'd be 

6 tested, and pending the result - if it was negative, they'd go about 

7 their day, go into the office; if it was positive, we'd treat it as 

8 any other positive case. 

9 

10 

11 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Was the accused vaccinated at this time? 

At this time, he was not. 

You said this new guidance and procedures were put out -

12 were these communicated to unvaccinated personnel in the Army Public 

13 Health Command? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes, they were communicated from our Chief of Staff. 

Was this information communicated to the accused? 

Yes, it was. 

How was this information communicated to him? 

Originally, it was sent over email, and all the supporting 

19 documentations from higher, on how it was to be implemented was sent 

20 to him. And then it was also communicated over the telephone. 

21 TC: [Retrieved PE 1 for ID, showed to the defense, handed to 

22 the witness.] 

23 Q. Captain McCarthy, what is this? 
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1 A. This is a copy of our email traffic between Lieutenant 

2 Bashaw and myself. 

3 

4 

Q. 

A. 

When you say "email traffic," what dates are those emails? 

From Monday, November 29 th , as well as Wednesday, November 

5 24 th , and Friday November 26 th . 

6 Q. The emails span from November 24 th of what year? 

7 A. Of 2021. 

8 Q. To November 29th of 2021? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. How do you recognize those emails, and that they're the 

11 traffic between you two? 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

I remember sending these emails; I remember receiving them. 

Is there anything unique about the document you have in 

14 front of you that helps you identify that those are the emails that 

15 you sent? 

A. It has a "from," and "to," and who it was sent by, and 16 

17 signature blocks on here, and how it was printed. It shows that it 

18 was from Lieutenant Bashaw and myself, and to him, with our names on 

19 it. 

20 

21 

Q. 

A. 

When you say "your names," what do you mean by that? 

It has "From: Bashaw, Mark, First Lieutenant, U.S. Army, 

22 MEDCOM APHC," and it has, "To: McCarthy, Alexander, Captain, U.S. 

23 Army, MEDCOM APHC" on here. 
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1 Q. As part of those contents, did you have any conversations 

2 with Lieutenant Bashaw about what was contained within there that 

3 made you believe that these emails - that you were communicating with 

4 First Lieutenant Bashaw, based on the content that's in those emails? 

5 

6 

7 

A. 

TC: 

Q. 

[No response.] 

Sorry, I'll rephrase. 

Is there anything about any of the conversations you had 

8 with First Lieutenant Bashaw about information contained in there 

9 that make you believe that the person you were communicating with in 

10 those emails was First Lieutenant Bashaw? 

11 A. When I talked to him on the phone, we knew, from what we 

12 were talking about with each other in regards to these emails. 

13 Q. Would you say that printout is a fair and accurate 

14 depiction of your email conversation between 24 November 2021 and 29 

15 November 2021, between you and First Lieutenant Bashaw? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Have any of the emails, or contents within there, do they 

18 appear to be changed or deleted at all? 

19 

20 

A. No. 

TC: Your Honor, the government moves to admit Prosecution 

21 Exhibit 1 for identification into evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 1. 

22 

23 

MJ: Defense? 

ACDC: No objection, Your Honor. 
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1 

2 

3 

MJ: Prosecution 1 is so admitted. 

TC: [Returned PE 1 to the witness.] 

Q. Lieutenant [sic] McCarthy, looking at Prosecution Exhibit 

4 1, when was your first email sent to the accused? 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

telework, 

negative 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

telework? 

E-5800. 

Q. 

A. 

II 

[Reviewing PE 1.] On Wednesday, November 24th' at 9:48 AM. 

What did you tell the accused on November 24, 2021? 

[Reviewing PE 1.] I told him that he either needed to 

or take an over-the-counter test to provide proof of 

COVID-19 in order to come into the office. 

Did the accused acknowledge this email? 

Yes, he did, by responding to it. 

What did he say in response to your 24 November email? 

He said, "Could you please clarify? Am I being ordered to 

I supervise soldiers and perform duties onsite at Building 

What was your response to that response? 

My response was, "To follow up on the other email about the 

18 testing requirements, from Lieutenant Colonel Rufolo and other 

19 conversations, you're being ordered to be tested in order to return 

20 to work, under certain information that's included in operational 

21 order and FRAGOs. If you refuse to be tested, you have to stay at 

22 home and telework until you are tested. If you refuse to be tested, 

23 we'll treat the situation as such, and handle it from there, with the 
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1 necessary follow-on actions. For your test, you will report to 

2 Building 1930 between 0730-0830 to the Staff Duty desk, and have the 

3 Staff Duty Officer contact Lieutenant Colonel Shearer - he'll walk 

4 you through the self-test, and supervise completion of it." 

5 Q. So, when you mentioned operational order and FRAGOs, which 

6 FRAGOs were you referencing there? 

7 A. FRAGO 10 of the operational order that was published 

8 shortly before that, and I believe Operation Order 21-53. 

9 Q. Were there any other orders that you may have been 

10 referencing there that were included in that, because it's a general 

11 statement of operational order and FRAGOs? 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

For showing to take the over-the-counter test, no. 

If the accused didn't want to submit to testing, did he 

14 have any other ways in which to obey the order contained within your 

15 email? 

16 A. He could have provided his own over-the-counter test, at 

17 his own expense, and he could have requested reimbursement through 

18 the government for that. But in lieu of having him pay out-of-

19 pocket, I gave him the option of staying home until we procured the 

20 test through the proper Army channels, and they arrived into our 

21 possession through that. We did not receive them right away, when 

22 this op order was given to us; it took time for it to come in, as 

23 expected. That was right before Thanksgiving that they were ordered, 
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1 so they came in a day or two after - we had them before the 30 th of 

2 November, which is why it was expected of him to come in on the 30 th 

3 and take that over-the-counter test. 

4 Q. To clarify, the order you gave in your email, there were 

5 three ways in which he could comply? He could report to Building 

6 1930 between 0730-0830 and submit to a test provided by the unit? 

7 

8 

9 test 

A. 

Q. 

[Affirmative response.] 

Or he could have provided his own test, and taken his own 

10 MJ: The witnesses has nodded in the affirmative to your first 

11 question. 

12 Do counsel agree with that characterization, or did you not 

13 observe it? Or do you need to ask him again, and get it on the 

14 record. 

15 

16 

17 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Is that a yes to the first part of that, Captain McCarthy? 

Yes. 

The second option was he could provide his own test, take 

18 his own test and provide a negative result to yourself or the unit, 

~ is that correct? 

20 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

Or he could telework as a third option? 

Correct. 
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1 Q. All three of those would've obeyed your order that you gave 

2 in your email? 

3 

4 

A. Yes. 

TC: [Retrieved PE 1 from the witness, returned to the court 

5 reporter. ] 

6 

7 

Q. 

A. 

So, after these emails on November 29 th , what happens next? 

I was given - he was given the opportunity to come in the 

8 following morning on 30 November. Giving him ample time to get 

9 there, I called him to see if he was going to make it; he said that 

10 he was going to hit traffic, so I extended that timeframe to give him 

11 ample time, a reasonable amount of time, to follow through on that 

12 order. He did not go in, and he reported to his place of duty 

13 instead, to where he would normally conduct his work. 

14 Q. Just to be clear, what specific day was the next day? 

15 A. This was on 30 November. 

16 Q. In what year? 

17 A. 2021. 

18 Q. When you say he reported to his office, what specific 

19 location did he ----

20 A. He showed up to Building 5800. 

21 Q. Where is that located physically? 

22 A. On APG-South. 

23 Q. And you say APG? 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Aberdeen Proving Ground-South, the Edgewood area. 

What state is that located in? 

Maryland. 

So, after he reported to work, did he provide any proof of 

a negative COVID test? 

that 

A. No, he did not. 

Q. After he reports to work, what happens next? 

A. After he reported to work, I 

test. I also received a 

ACDC: Objection, hearsay. 

MJ: Sustained. 

call that 

confirmed that he did 

he was not wearing a 

Q. Did you take any action after he reported to work? 

Yes, I told him to go home. 

not take 

mask ---

A. 

Q. When you say "you told him to go home," how did you tell 

16 him to go home? 

17 A. I gave Lieutenant Bashaw a phone call, and ordered him to 

18 go home. 

19 

20 

21 

Q. What made you believe -

TC: Withdrawn, Your Honor. 

Q. What did you say when you said to go home? The words. 
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1 A. I don't remember the exact words that I said, but the 

2 conversation was, if he was not going to be tested, then he needed to 

3 go home and not stay at work. 

4 Q. What was his response? 

5 A. No. 

6 Q. Were those the exact words he used? 

7 A. I don't remember his exact words. 

8 Q. Was that the impression that you were given? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. At any time, did you give the accused a period of 

11 opportunity to leave? 

12 A. No, it was understood from our conversation that it was 

13 supposed to be an immediate action taken on his part to follow that 

14 order. 

15 

16 

17 

18 time? 

19 

20 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Did he leave Aberdeen Proving Ground at that time? 

No. 

Did he provide you proof of a negative COVID test at that 

No. 

At any point on 30 November 2021, did he provide you proof 

21 of a negative COVID test? 

22 A. No, he did not. 
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1 Q. After the accused told you he wasn't going to leave, what 

2 happened next? 

3 A. I started drafting a counseling statement, because I needed 

4 to address him not following a direct order, given from myself as his 

5 commanding officer. 

6 Q. After you drafted this counseling statement, what did you 

7 do? 

8 A. I set up a meeting with him to talk to him and give him 

9 that counseling, and counsel him that afternoon on 30 November 2021. 

10 Q. So, you set up a counseling session with him for later in 

11 the day? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Was that at Aberdeen Proving Ground? 

14 A. Yes, it was at Building 1607 at my company headquarters. 

15 Q. Does that not conflict with your original order to tell him 

16 to leave? 

17 A. No, because when I gave him that original order to go home 

18 or take the test, when he said no and did not comply, that order was 

19 done, so I gave him a new order to show up at that counseling 

20 statement session later in the day. 

21 

22 

23 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Did the accused report to your office? 

Yes, he did. 

Around what time did he report to your office? 
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1 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

I believe it was around 1500 that day. 

Where is your office located again? 

It is located on Aberdeen Proving Ground-South, Edgewood 

4 side, in Maryland. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Is there a specific building number? 

Building 1607. 

Is your office located inside of the building? 

Yes, it is. 

At this counseling session, was anyone else present? 

Yes, it was myself, my company first sergeant, First 

11 Sergeant Tally; the Army Public Health Center Chief of Staff, 

12 Lieutenant Colonel Rufolo; and he brought a witness, Sergeant 

13 Danenhower. 

14 

15 

Q. 

A. 

Who is Sergeant Danenhower? 

She's one of our other soldiers in my company - a 

16 Preventive Medicine NCO. 

17 Q. So, the accused reports to your office, he's with Sergeant 

18 Danenhower, and also First Sergeant Tally and Lieutenant Colonel 

19 Rufolo are there. What happens next? 

20 A. Originally, Lieutenant Bashaw came in. He was ready to 

21 provide me a copy of his Article 138, and I told him no, I needed to 

22 take another minute to review my counseling and make sure I had all 

23 my thoughts in order, so I had him wait outside. 
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1 in, told him to hold onto his Article 138 until after this, and did 

2 my counseling session with him. We went through the counseling, 

3 addressed the concerns, and then 

4 Q. I just want to stop you there. Was there anything notable 

5 that happened before the counseling? 

6 A. Yes, he walked in, and he was not wearing a mask. So, I 

7 immediately addressed him and told him to put a mask on, and he said 

8 no. So, I said, "Put a mask on. This is a direct order," and he 

9 said no, something along those lines about it was discrimination 

10 against him for having him wear a mask, and it was an EUA, and all 

11 that. 

12 

13 

Q. 

A. 

When you say "a mask," what do you mean? 

One of the approved cloth face coverings that we see and 

14 are told to wear in regards to preventing the spread of COVID-19. 

15 Q. At any point, did the accused - after you ordered him to 

16 put on a mask - put on a mask? 

17 A. No, he did not. 

18 TC: No further questions, Your Honor. 

19 MJ: Defense? 

20 
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1 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

2 Questions by the assistant civilian defense counsel: 

3 Q. I just want to maybe back up a little bit, just for 

4 clarification. To your understanding, what is Lieutenant Bashaw's 

5 job description? 

6 A. He is an entomology officer for the United States Army, so 

7 his job encompassed a lot of different things with regard to that 

8 field. 

9 Q. You may have answered this already before, but I just want 

10 to clarify - what does he do on a daily basis, in relation to where 

11 you work? 

12 A. His building is located separately from my building, but I 

13 know he has other soldiers and civilians in the building that he 

14 works in. At that time, he was responsible for some of the 

15 administrative things above his soldiers, and overseeing some of 

16 their tasks. 

17 Q. Is it true - would you say you did not directly with 

18 Lieutenant Bashaw on a day-to-day basis? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

On some aspects, we do, and on some aspects, I don't. 

In fact, I think you mentioned this - he has a different 

21 direct supervisor that he reports to? 

22 A. That's right. 
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1 Q. We've talked about this - you had discussions with 

2 Lieutenant Bashaw about him testing prior to coming in - coming into 

3 the building, or to telework, correct? 

4 

5 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

At this point, did Lieutenant Bashaw express concerns to 

6 you that his duties could not be completed by working remotely? 

7 A. He expressed that concern, but that's a concern not - he's 

8 told what his duties are. 

9 Q. After that point, that was when Lieutenant Bashaw 

10 communicated an informal 138 complaint to you before his formal 

11 complaint, and he had a list of questions for you? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Did you respond to those questions? 

I responded to those questions via email. 

Did you say - was your response that Lieutenant Bashaw was 

16 free to disagree with the order, without any further discussion about 

17 his concerns? 

18 A. He was free to - we're all free to disagree with an order, 

19 but that does not mean that we won't follow the order. 

20 Q. Do you believe that was your addressing his concerns about 

21 not being able to work remotely? 

22 A. Can you repeat the question? 
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1 Q. Do you believe that was you addressing his concerns about 

2 not being - the questions in his informal 138 complaint, and also the 

3 concern about not being able to complete his duties by teleworking? 

4 A. No, he can complete his duties by teleworking. 

5 Q. So, there was no further discussion than that? 

6 A. On that day, no. It was not until a later date. 

7 Q. Did you communicate with Lieutenant Bashaw's supervisor 

8 about him working remotely? 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Did you communicate to Lieutenant Bashaw that you had 

11 communicated with his supervisor about him working remotely? 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

So, again, he had concerns, and you did not directly 

14 address those concerns with him? Correct? 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

Not until a later date. 

Are you aware of what the specific concerns were of 

17 Lieutenant Bashaw regarding his working remotely? 

18 A. He stated that his concerns were his soldiers in there that 

19 were working. 

20 

21 

22 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Nothing more specific than that? 

Not that I remember right now. 

Are you aware that Lieutenant Bashaw was having issues with 

23 one of his direct reports, because he was not onsite every day? 
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1 

2 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Supervision of that soldier had actually been given back 

3 over to Ms. Rada vi ch? 

4 

5 

6 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: The witness has already stated he doesn't have knowledge of 

7 the supervision of this soldier, so it's calling for speculation. 

8 

9 

10 

MJ: If he knows - overruled - if he knows. 

Repeat the question, counsel. 

Q. Are you aware that the supervision of that soldier had been 

11 given to Ms. Radavich? 

12 A. I do not know. 

13 Q. You do have a previous working history with Lieutenant 

14 Bashaw, correct? 

15 A. I interacted with him a couple of times prior to taking 

16 command. 

17 Q. In your experience, would you consider Lieutenant Bashaw to 

18 be a hands-on type of commander? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

21 soldiers? 

22 A. 

Yes, as much as any commander should be. 

By that, I mean, he liked to be among and with his 

Yes, he took care of his soldiers. 
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1 Q. After Lieutenant Bashaw communicated to you on 29 November 

2 he intended to come into 5800 for work, without testing, you 

3 communicated with Captain Jameson that same day to discuss what you 

4 should do with Lieutenant Bashaw, correct? 

5 

6 

7 

8 

A. Yes. 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: We believe any further inquiry is going to go into 

9 attorney-client privilege between the attorney and the commander. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

MJ: Counsel is shaking her head "no," so 

ACDC: There's no further question along those lines. 

MJ: Very well. 

TC: To that point, withdrawn, Your Honor. 

MJ: Why don't we do this? Why don't we instruct the witnesses 

15 that if he believes his answer would go into some particular field 

16 that you're in agreement not to go into, make that clear to him. 

17 ACDC: Yes, Your Honor. 

18 

19 

MJ: 

Q. 

Just tell him what you're going to talk about. 

Did you believe it was a serious health concern for 

20 Lieutenant Bashaw to come to work without being tested? 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

But you were aware that Lieutenant Bashaw was present at 

23 5800 on 30 November in the morning, correct? 
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1 

2 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

But your only communication to him was in a text message, 

3 telling him to come in for a 2:30 counseling, correct? 

4 A. If that's what you have record of, but there was also a 

5 phone call that morning. 

6 

7 

Q. 

A. 

Tell me about that phone call. When did you call him? 

At some point before that, in regards to him corning in to 

8 test and making sure that was going to meet his deadline. And that's 

9 why I mentioned before that if he was not going to make that 0830 

10 deadline due to traffic or something, then there was a little bit of 

11 leeway. 

12 Q. Do you recall making a phone call to him that he did not 

13 answer? He did not pick up? 

14 A. I don't want to say that with 100 percent certainty that I 

15 remember that. 

16 Q. If you don't remember that phone call - but he sent you a 

17 text message that he had run into traffic, and would be in around 

18 9: 30. Do you recall that? 

19 A. It sounds possible. 

20 Q. And then it was almost an hour and a half later, you sent 

21 him a text message, saying he needed to come into your office at 

22 14: 30 - do you recall that? 

23 A. It sounds possible. 
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1 Q. But nowhere in that text message did you say that if he 

2 wasn't tested, he should go home? 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

I don't remember what I texted 6 months ago. 

If Lieutenant Bashaw was at the building, did you expect 

5 him to go home? 

6 

7 

8 away? 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Are you aware that Lieutenant Bashaw lives about an hour 

Yes. 

And if he went home, he'd only be there for an hour before 

11 he needed to turn around and come back? 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

What do you mean? 

The time it takes to travel home and back, there was only 

14 another hour between when he needed to come in for the counseling. 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

Okay. 

So, if Lieutenant Bashaw had a text from you that says, 'Be 

17 in my office at 1430,' would it be reasonable for him to just stay 

18 here instead of make that commute? 

19 A. Yes, but the expectation and understanding is to not stay 

20 inside, or stay at work, because there's other places that he can go 

21 on-base outside of a building----

22 Q. Did you see him that day? 
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1 A. ---- without putting people at risk. When the order was 

2 given to go home, and he did not comply - so when I told him to 

3 report for the counseling, that superseded that initial order. So, 

4 by him staying, he was not going against that order anymore, but he's 

5 already went against it. 

6 Q. Sure. But what is your knowledge that he did not go home -

7 or did not leave the building? Sorry. 

A. I was told that. 

ACDC: Objection, hearsay. 

TC: Your Honor, counsel asked the question. 

8 

9 

10 

11 MJ: I understand. Counsel, you invited a response. I'm 

12 overruling. 

13 Q. Do you have personal knowledge? 

14 MJ: I'm overruling the objection. 

15 Q. But do you have personal knowledge 

16 MJ: The answer stands. 

17 TC: Roger, Your Honor. 

18 Can the witness restate the answer? 

19 MJ: The answer was the answer. 

20 Q. So, to clarify, do you have personal knowledge of what 

21 did after you said you told him to go home? 

22 A. No 
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1 Q. When you sent him the text message to come to your office, 

2 why didn't you say 'Come to my office right now,' if it was a concern 

3 that he was potentially staying on the grounds? 

4 A. On that day, I was teleworking due to child care issues, so 

5 I needed to ensure my children were taken care of first 

6 appropriately, and maintain their safety, so that I could address 

7 this issue. 

8 Q. But he was told to come to your office and did show up, 

9 correct? 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

ACDC: 

Yes, he did. 

On time, correct? 

Yes, he did. 

So he did not violate that order? 

No, not that order. 

[After conferring with CDC.] Just one follow-up 

16 question. 

17 Q. Based on the answer you just gave, I want to confirm - you 

18 were not here on the grounds until 1430? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

A. Correct. 

ACDC: No further questions at this time. 

MJ: Very well. 

Government, any redirect? 

TC: Yes, Your Honor. 
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1 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

2 Questions by the trial counsel: 

3 Q. Captain McCarthy, I want to clarify something. Who 

4 dictates what the accused's duties are? 

5 A. That'd be his direct supervisor, for the technical director 

6 work that he does. 

7 

8 

9 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Who dictates what his military duties are? 

I do. 

If you needed the accused to be an OIC of a range, could 

10 you detail him to that? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

Absolutely. 

If you needed him to be the officer in charge of Staff 

13 Duty, could you detail him to that? 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

Yes, I could. 

Could Ms. Radavich, his supervisor, overrule you on that 

16 and say no? 

17 A. No. If she had an issue, then she would come to me, or her 

18 supervisor, and talk to me, and we'd come out where both sides are 

19 happy. 

20 Q. If you'd decided the accused was going to telework, could 

21 she overrule you and say, 'No, he's coming in?' 

22 A. No, it'd have to be brought to a higher level, to make sure 

23 everybody is on the same page. 
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1 Q. I want to clarify another point. So, there's some dispute 

2 about text messages or phone calls. At any point, did you call First 

3 Lieutenant Bashaw in the morning of 30 November of 2021? 

4 A. 

5 Q. 

6 Ground? 

7 A. 

8 Q. 

9 A. 

We talked that morning on the phone. 

Was that after or before he had arrived at Aberdeen Proving 

I believe it was before. 

Once you believed he arrived, did you talk to him? 

No. 

10 Q. So, you didn't talk to him at any point after he may have 

11 arrived on 30 November - the morning of 30 November 2021? 

12 A. There was a phone call or a text message, as I stated, but 

13 I don't remember how many times I called him, or how many times we 

14 talked that morning on the phone. Like I said, it was 6-plus months 

15 ago, so some of the details are not all there anymore. 

16 Q. How would he have known to leave Aberdeen Proving Ground 

17 that morning, if you----

18 A. Our original phone call, and the emails from the night 

19 before - that if he's not tested, he should not be at work. 

20 Q. If he left Aberdeen Proving Ground and drove an hour home, 

21 would you have made him come back to Aberdeen Proving Ground? 

22 A. No. 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Q. 

command? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Was it acceptable, at that time, to telework under your 

Absolutely. 

Were other soldiers able to telework? 

Yes. 

6 Q. And again, was the accused able to telework that day, if he 

7 did not want to submit to any testing? 

8 

9 

10 

A. Yes. 

TC: No further questions, Your Honor. 

MJ: Defense, any additional cross-examination? 

11 CDC: One second, Your Honor. 

12 [The defense counsels conferred.] 

13 ACDC: Just a few more questions, Your Honor. 

14 RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

15 Questions by the assistant civilian defense counsel: 

16 Q. I want to talk a little bit about the informal 138. You 

17 mentioned that you did respond by email to his informal questions. 

18 Do you have that email? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A. No. 

TC: Objection, Your Honor. 

MJ: Basis? 

TC: Outside the scope of government redirect. 
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